### UC Berkeley UC Berkeley Electronic Theses and Dissertations

### Title

Bioanalytical Microfluidic Devices and Methods for Analysis of Cancer Gene Expression

**Permalink** https://escholarship.org/uc/item/9dx8g8d1

Author Del Bueno, Nadia

Publication Date 2011

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

#### Bioanalytical Microfluidic Devices and Methods for Analysis of Cancer Gene Expression

by

Nadia Del Bueno

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the

requirements for the degree of

Joint Doctor of Philosophy

with University of California, San Francisco

in

Bioengineering

in the

Graduate Division

of the

University of California, Berkeley

Committee in charge:

Professor Richard A. Mathies, Chair Professor George F. Sensabaugh Professor John Kurhanewicz

Spring 2011

Bioanalytical Microfluidic Devices and Methods for Analysis of Cancer Gene Expression

Copyright © 2011

By Nadia Del Bueno

Abstract

Bioanalytical Microfluidic Devices and Methods for

Analysis of Cancer Gene Expression

by

Nadia Del Bueno

#### Joint Doctor of Philosophy in Bioengineering

University of California, Berkeley

and

University of California, San Francisco

Professor Richard A. Mathies, Chair

Transcriptional profiling is essential in fundamental studies of pathogenesis. In particular, multiplexed analysis of gene expression enables the identification of cancer-specific expression signatures that correlate with clinical disease and which can be used for the prediction of tumor presence and disease progression. Microfabricated capillary electrophoresis (CE) devices feature reduced sample and reagent requirements, faster analysis times, and increased automation. These advantages make microdevices ideal analytical platforms for the quantitative monitoring of biomarkers, and their potential as point-of-care devices for facilitating cancer detection in the clinical setting is explored in this thesis.

First, an integrated microdevice capable of performing low-volume, rapid, and highly sensitive expression analysis was developed. To further the goal of quantitative measurements of transcript levels from a small amount of sample, an affinity capture gel approach was used to address the problem of inefficient CE sample injection which limits sensitivity. Photopolymerization protocols were developed to define a small plug of oligonucleotide-modified polyacrylamide gel inline with the CE channel in order to accomplish efficient capture and sample microinjection for quantitative analysis. This concentration and purification step also demonstrated increased detection sensitivity and improved separation resolution.

To perform multiplexed analysis of cancer genes, an optimized protocol for transcript analysis with aid of affinity capture was used in conjunction with the integrated CE microdevice. The expression of genes implicated in prostate cancer was assayed directly from cells by solution hybridization with complementary fluorescently-labeled detection probes, followed by affinity bead capture of mRNA-probe complexes. Released detection probes were then injected on-chip and captured on a photopolymerized capture gel for concentration prior to CE separation and detection. The ability of the assay and microdevice

system to evaluate gene expression was demonstrated by the measurement of absolute transcript levels of ten genes, enabling the successful identification of distinct expression signatures for the human prostate cancer cell lines LNCaP, VCaP, 22Rv1, and PC-3 with high sensitivity.

Finally, a microdevice also including on-chip PCR amplification is presented for improving the sensitivity of detection to enable the analysis of clinical samples. The functionality of the proposed microsystem is further expanded by the integration of upstream sample processing steps on-chip. By performing several bioanalytical processes on a single microfabricated platform, high-sensitivity expression analysis from complex biological samples should be possible, all the while reducing cost and analysis time. Based on the technologies developed in this thesis, these fully integrated devices could be implemented as diagnostic tools and play a key role in the future of clinical detection.

## Contents

List of Tables and Figures	III
Chapter 1: Gene Expression Methods For Cancer Pathology	1
1.1 Motivation	
1.1.1 Need for Cancer Detection Methods	
1.1.2 Gene Expression Analysis	
1.1.3 The Advantages of Studying RNA	
1.2 Methods of RNA Analysis	6
1.2.1 Northern Blots	6
1.2.2 Microarrays	7
1.2.3 Serial Analysis of Gene Expression (SAGE)	
1.2.4 Real Time-PCR	9
1.3 Microfabricated Systems as Diagnostic Platforms	
1.3.1 Fabrication	
1.3.2 Capillary Electrophoresis	
1.3.3 Detection	
1.4 Integrated Function for High-Performance Detection	
1.4.1 Sample Injection Methods	
1.4.2 Photopolymerization in situ	
1.5 Scope of the Dissertation	
Chapter 2: Integrated Capillary Electrophoresis Microdevice For	Multiplex
Analysis Of Cancer Gene Expression	
2.1 Summary	
2.2 Introduction	
2.3 Materials and Methods	
2.3.1 Microdevice design and fabrication	
2.3.2 Cell culture and lysis	
2.3.3 Probe pool design	
2.3.4 Sample preparation	

2.3.5 Capture gel preparation	
2.3.6 Microdevice operation	
2.3.7 Data processing	
2.4 Results and Discussion	
2.4.1 Microdevice and assay design	
2.4.2 Probe pool analysis	
2.4.3 Analysis of total RNA samples	
2.4.4 Assay sensitivity	
2.4.5 Detection of gene expression fingerprints directly from cells	
2.5 Conclusions	
2.6 Acknowledgements	44
Chapter 3: Prospects	45
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Increasing Sensitivity for Analysis of Clinical Samples	
3.3 Fully Integrated Cancer Detection for Point-of-Care Testing	
3.4 High-Throughput Analysis Systems	
3.5 Conclusions	
References	

## List of Tables and Figures

Figure 1.1	Glass microfabrication process	12
Figure 1.2	The Berkeley rotary confocal fluorescence scanner	15
Figure 1.3	Comparison of cross injection and affinity capture methods	17
Figure 1.4	A photopolymerized capture gel plug	20
Figure 2.1	Layout of the multichannel capture-CE microdevice for gene expression analysis	27
Table 2.1	Probe sequences and labels for multiplex detection of prostate cancer	29
Figure 2.2	Schematic of sample preparation and device operation	31
Figure 2.3	On-chip separation of the prostate cancer probe pool	35
Figure 2.4	On chip analysis of total RNA samples from PC-3 cells	37
Figure 2.5	On chip analysis of cell lysate samples showing expression patterns for the prostate cancer cell lines LNCaP, VCaP, 22Rv1 and PC-3	39
Figure 2.6	Expression patterns for prostate cancer cell lines determined by on-chip analysis	41
Figure 3.1	A microfabricated PCR thermocycler	49
Figure 3.2	Microfabricated valves for fluid isolation and pumping	52
Figure 3.3	Fully integrated microdevice for gene expression analysis	54
Figure 3.4	High-throughput automated capture gel formation	57

# **Chapter 1**

Gene Expression Methods for Cancer Pathology

#### **1.1 Motivation**

#### **1.1.1 Need for Cancer Detection Methods**

Cancer is a frustrating disease to study. Evidence of the disease exists even in the earliest records of human history, yet it is still responsible for over 560,000 deaths per year in the United States alone [1]. The goal of a cancer cure remains a focus of biomedical research, funded both by private endeavors and by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) to the tune of over \$5.8 billion a year [2]. Thanks to these efforts, there has been some success in the fight against this complex disease. Notably, the number of cancer deaths has dropped, even as the rate of incidence of new cases has increased [1]. Over 200 forms of human cancer have been documented so far, each characterized by uncontrolled cell growth, invasion to adjacent tissues, and in the worst cases, metastasis. Clearly, further research is needed, as much remains to be learned about the causes and treatment of this devastating disease. In particular, continued success in developing new cures necessitates improvements in our knowledge of the fundamental mechanisms of cancer, as well as in our ability to accurately detect and characterize the disease.

Whereas several cases of cancer had been described by Hippocrates' lifetime, it was not until the nineteenth century that the first true attempts at a scientifically rigorous identification of the origins of the disease began. Johannes Müller established in 1838 that cancer was a collection of diseased cells [3]. However, the causes of the disease and mechanisms of tumor development remained a mystery. The genetic basis of cancer was finally recognized in 1902 by Theodor Boveri, a German zoologist who postulated that the function of chromosomes was to transmit various inheritance factors [4]. He also suggested that alterations in these chromosomes could lead cells to divide uncontrollably, and correctly identified this unlimited growth potential as the source of cancerous tumors. He further hypothesized that cancers could be caused by radiation and exposure to chemical agents as well as pathogens.

Our current understanding of the genetic causes and biochemical processes involved in cancer really took off with the discovery of the double helix structure of DNA by Watson and Crick in 1953, as the description of base pairing rules revealed how genetic information is conserved and inherited. An explosion in technological development around this newfound understanding of DNA led to the discovery of several novel techniques that facilitated the manipulation of biological molecules, including polymerase chain reaction (PCR) [5], molecular cloning [6], and Sanger sequencing [7]. This in turn allowed the identification of critical genes, such as those implicated in the cancer proliferation and invasion pathways. Researchers quickly realized the link between mutations in these genes and abnormal growth, and tumor-specific genes became the central focus of several studies with a goal of finding new therapies by developing biochemical agents aimed at these molecular targets [8,9]. At the same time, the identification of "high-risk genotypes" has allowed the articulation of preventative measures to benefit patients who are genetically predisposed to certain cancers [10,11]. However, more than 90% of cancers do not have a hereditary genetic cause, and understanding of the fundamental biological pathways involved is still lacking for most cancers. Developing new methods to detect various types of cancer is especially important as it expands our ability to diagnose the disease early and broadens treatment options.

#### **1.1.2 Gene Expression Analysis**

Two classes of genes play a crucial role in cancer progression by controlling cell life span, growth, and division. Oncogenes have the potential to cause cancer by interfering with apoptosis, thereby causing cells to survive and proliferate instead of undergoing programmed cell death. Proto-oncogenes are a subcategory that consists of naturally occurring genes which are capable of becoming oncogenes due to mutations or increased expression. Because the natural function of these genes is to regulate cell growth and division, they can promote tumor growth through overexpression. However, most oncogenes do not cause cancer until the mutation of additional genes or exacerbation by environmental factors. In contrast, tumor suppressor genes promote tumor growth when they are underexpressed or diminished in activity by mutations. TP53, a gene frequently altered in human cancers belongs to this class [12]. The TP53 gene encodes for tumor suppressor protein p53, which regulates the cell cycle and therefore prevents cancer. Loss of function of this gene results in uncontrolled cell growth and is a common factor observed in many types of cancer.

The number of genes implicated in cancer is considerable, and the role of each is highly variable based on the type of cancer and disease stage. Over the past three decades, cancer research has benefited from key advances in the identification of individual genes and molecules with potential roles in disease progression. More recently, the wealth of genomic information provided by the Human Genome Project has shifted the focus of biological investigation to genome wide profiling. This has often led to the identification of genes that play a major role in their specific cancer type. For example, the discovery of BRCA genes has led to the stratification of breast cancer types and the development of genetic tests for the detection of high-risk mutations to guide treatment [13,14]. Similarly, numerous essential prostate genes have been identified, including genes implicated in prostate cancer such as PSA [15], PCA3 [16], and more recently, AMACR [17]. However, our understanding of the genes involved in cancer remains incomplete, and further work is necessary to reveal the extensive pathways that characterize tumor progression.

While direct genomic sequencing helps researchers discern mutations, which are the basis of many types of cancer, profiling of gene expression levels is essential in fundamental studies of pathogenesis. Expression analysis of genetic targets reveals how the gene transcripts are interpreted and synthesized into the products that give rise to the cancer phenotype. Specifically, the analysis of expression of tissue and cancer-specific genes enables the identification of expression patterns that can be monitored during normal and disease states, in this manner providing valuable information for understanding the complex interaction of individual genes in cancer progression. Moreover, multiplexing the number of biomarkers analyzed can overcome the limitations of single genetic marker assays, which cannot reliably be used alone for cancer detection. For example, serum prostate-specific antigen (PSA) is used extensively for screening [18] but suffers from substantial limitations, including a lack of prostate cancer sensitivity and specificity. In contrast, multiplexed expression analysis can be used for the identification and characterization of cancer specific expression signatures for the prediction of tumor presence and progression [19,20]. In addition, stratification between clinically important and clinically insignificant forms of cancer can be made possible by monitoring specific prognostic markers. This can supplement histological examination in predicting metastasis and clinical outcome, thus

enabling customization of therapeutic options as well as monitoring of response to specific treatments. Besides facilitating diagnosis and treatment, the benefits of gene expression analysis and the identification of expression fingerprints implicated in cancer pathogenesis are certainly relevant to all areas of cancer research.

#### 1.1.3 The Advantages of Studying RNA

Because of its role as the genetic carrier of information, DNA is often considered the most important biological molecule. However, the Central Dogma of molecular biology, formulated in 1958, drew attention to the central function of RNA by proposing that genetic information is transcribed from a DNA template to RNA and then translated from RNA into proteins. Under this concept, RNA molecules carry the genetic information stored in the DNA and direct the synthesis of the proteins necessary for cell function. Analyzing RNA expression therefore bridges the link between the genetic basis of cancer and the proteins that cause the chemical changes in the cell. The importance of RNA has even led to the formulation of the "RNA world" hypothesis, which proposes that life based on RNA predates current life based on DNA and proteins [21]. This premise is supported by RNA's unique ability to perform functions of DNA as well as those of proteins: like DNA, RNA can store, transmit and duplicate genetic information, but it can also behave like a protein, for example by having enzymatic activity [22].

The chemical composition and structure of RNA, while seemingly only different from those of DNA in a minor way, enable this multi-functionality. Like DNA, RNA is made up of a long chain of nucleotides, arranged in a sequence of three base codons, which allow RNA to encode genetic information. The major difference is that unlike DNA, RNA is single stranded, and employs the uracil (U) rather than the thymine (T) nucleotide. Structural analysis of RNA reveals a complex organization that makes RNA a versatile molecule capable of playing many roles in the biology of the cell. RNA molecules do not consist of the long double helices that have become identifiable features of DNA. Instead, RNA single strands fold and hybridize within themselves, producing repeating structures composed of beta sheets and short hairpin double helices packed together.

These differences create some challenges when working with RNA. First, because RNA contains a 2-hydroxyl in its ribose backbone rather than a 2-deoxyribose group, the molecule is very susceptible to degradation by hydrolysis. As a result, working with RNA necessitates meticulous protocols to prevent sample degradation. Second, RNA takes many forms in the cell: messenger RNA (mRNA) encodes the genetic information for the corresponding protein product, while transfer RNA (tRNA) mediates recognition of the codon, and ribosomal RNA (rRNA) plays a part in the protein manufacturing process in the ribosome. Studies of gene expression are mainly interested in mRNA molecules, however these account for only 1-5% of total RNA samples while rRNA, mostly in the form of the 28S and 18S rRNA species, makes up over 80%. Because of this, detecting mRNA for expression analysis is challenging even with the most sensitive methods.

Nevertheless, using RNA is the best way to study changes in gene expression to shed light on complex biomolecular mechanisms. Because RNA is able to undergo rapid modifications through mechanisms of editing, alternative splicing and silencing, the manner in which the RNA is expressed is often more revealing than the presence of the gene itself. An alternative is to analyze the cell's protein content directly, which is the optimal approach for measuring expression since RNA does not always accurately represent cellular protein content. This is because measuring RNA does not take into account post-transcriptional modifications of RNA or post-translational modifications of the protein, both of which play a crucial role in the protein's functionality. Whereas proteomic analysis has been used for finding consistent expression profiles in certain cancers [23,24], analyzing proteins directly remains problematic. One challenge is that proteins vary largely in the number of copies of each molecule, with most proteins well below the limits of detection offered by standard laboratory methods. In addition, unlike for nucleic acids, there are no existing methods for performing amplification of proteins. Another difficulty is the lack of good techniques for measuring cellular protein content. Green fluorescence protein (GFP) can be used to directly measure a cell's expression of a particular protein by coupling a GFP reporter to a protein target and visualizing its fluorescence. However, the method is laborious and is limited by spectral overlap to the detection of a few proteins. Due to the complex shapes and varying charges of proteins, electrophoretic separations are also more challenging than for RNA and necessitate two-dimensional electrophoresis where isoelectric focusing is used along with sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) to achieve separation. Because RNA is more easily amplified and manipulated than proteins, it remains a better way to perform gene expression analysis.

#### **1.2 Methods of RNA Analysis**

The measurement of RNA expression levels is essential in studies of pathogenesis as well as for the detection and monitoring of gene expression fingerprints implicated in cancer for diagnostic purposes. Accordingly, there has been a growing demand for novel methods that allow quantification of gene expression. This measurement of RNA must overcome several challenges, including the low concentration of mRNA in most samples, the easy degradation of RNA molecules, as well as the large variations in the abundance of transcripts which can range from thousands of copies per cell to a single copy. Ideally, the analytical method for measuring expression must be robust and enable fast, sensitive and quantitative monitoring of mRNA levels from a small amount of sample. The most commonly used techniques for gene expression (SAGE), and real-time PCR (qPCR).

#### **1.2.1 Northern Blots**

Northern blotting, developed in 1977 by Alwine et al. [25] has become a common method for molecular biologists to study gene expression by measuring the RNA content of a sample. For example, the method has been used successfully for comparing patterns of gene expression between different tissues. Of specific importance for cancer, Northern blots have been used to demonstrate oncogene overexpression and tumor-suppressor gene downregulation in cancer cells compared to normal cells [26]. In fact, so many expression studies have been done using Northern blots that a database called BlotBase, has been created to serve as a repository of over 700 published Northern blots spanning hundreds of genes and many tissue types [27].

The widespread use of Northern blots for gene expression studies in so many applications can be attributed to the simplicity of the protocol. The analysis begins with the extraction of total RNA from a homogenized lysate of cells. Then, RNA is separated based on size by electrophoresis, using agarose or polyacrylamide denaturing gels that contain either formaldehyde or urea to limit secondary structures. The sizes of the fragments obtained are determined during electrophoresis of total RNA samples simply by comparing to the ribosomal subunits that can serve as size markers: the 28S large ribosomal subunit, about twice the size of the 18S small ribosomal subunit, yields a band about twice as intense. After separation, RNA samples are transferred to a positively charged nylon membrane which has high affinity for the negatively charged RNA. Finally, labeled probes are hybridized to the immobilized RNA, and hybrids thus formed are detected.

A key advantage of Northern Blots is that they enable direct detection of RNA, which results in the unbiased analysis and quantification of the sample. However, the method suffers from several disadvantages. The protocol necessitates many steps, including several sample transfers which cannot easily be automated. In addition to being time consuming, this extensive RNA handling requires meticulous technique to prevent sample degradation by ubiquitous RNAses. In addition, specificity and efficiency of the hybridization steps are highly dependent on experimental conditions, and lack of automation translates into diminished reproducibility of the results. Another drawback is that expression analysis by Northern blot requires samples containing a minimum of thousands of cells, and this lack of sensitivity means that genes with low copy numbers may not be detected. For

these reasons, Northern blotting is typically only feasible for the analysis of a handful of genes, and as such is currently mostly used for verifying expression results obtained by microarray analysis.

#### **1.2.2 Microarrays**

A microarray consists of a large array of microscopic oligonucleotide spots, each containing a short probe that hybridizes to a single gene target with high specificity. Since the demonstration in 1987 of the first DNA microarrays, created by pin-spotting of DNA onto filter paper [28], microarrays have evolved in design, fabrication, and costs. The Affymetrix microarray, first patented in 1992, uses covalent attachment to a solid surface [29]. Although the most commonly used substrate is glass, others such as silicon and plastics have also been demonstrated. Other microarray platforms, such as those commercialized by Illumina, replace the solid surface with microscopic polystyrene beads and are for this reason known as bead arrays [30]. Despite these differences, all the various types of microarrays share the same goal of enabling parallel and multiplex genetic analysis on a miniaturized platform and in a highly automated fashion.

Microarrays utilize the inherent ability of complementary nucleic acids to hybridize with each other in a specific manner with varying stringency depending on the number of complementary bases. Before analysis by microarray can begin, cells must be lysed and their mRNA extracted. Rather than using the RNA directly, mRNA is reverse transcribed into cDNA, labeled by coupling with Cy3 (green) or Cy5 (red) nucleotides, and finally hybridized to the microarray under binding conditions. Stringency washes are used to remove unhybridized and non-specific sequences. After hybridization, the array is scanned for visualization of the results: the intensity of each spot indicates the amount of target present in the sample, while the identity of the gene transcript is defined by its position on the array.

Because of the thousands of probes contained on each microarray, a high level of parallelism is possible, and a complete profile of expression can be obtained in one experiment. This has helped microarray analysis become standard in the study of expression since its first publication in 1994 [31,32]. Differences in expression profiles of human cancer compared to healthy samples were reported by 1999 [33], precipitating the identification of specific expression profiles for various cancers. Breast [34], ovarian [35], lung [36], and prostate cancer [37] have all been analyzed in this manner. The adoption of microarrays has further expanded as the costs of analysis have declined. Whereas the first gene chips were only accessible to a few researchers because of their high cost and the inability to reuse the device, inexpensive alternatives have since been developed [38,39]. The ability to print microarrays in house has further increased the level of customization and considerably reduced costs, since the number of probes can be narrowed to only those genes that are of interest.

Despite these advances, the method has some significant drawbacks. First, microarray analysis suffers from shortcomings in the results obtained. The large data sets collected from each experiment require significant analysis with specialized software to determine statistical relevance. More importantly, the results allow relative quantification only, as the transcript level of each gene can only be expressed as a ratio normalized to a control. It must also be noted that the expression results obtained assume that the cDNA

products of the reverse transcription accurately reflect the mRNA content of the original sample. This is not always the case, and this bias is further worsened by PCR amplification steps included in many microarray chips in order to decrease the required amounts of starting material necessary for analysis. This biasing of the transcription profile can especially be a problem for genes that were present in the sample at low copy numbers. Conversely, when PCR amplification is not used, the method lacks sensitivity. Generally, at least 5  $\mu$ g of total RNA, or the equivalent of 2 to 5 million copies of each mRNA are necessary for detection by microarray without target amplification [40]. Because of the large amount of material necessary for expression analysis and the limited ability to quantify results, the usefulness of microarrays has so far been limited to research rather than diagnostic applications.

#### 1.2.3 Serial Analysis of Gene Expression (SAGE)

Serial Analysis of Gene Expression (SAGE) is a method for performing quantitative gene expression analysis. Since its publication in 1995 by Velculescu, the technique has gained many followers as an alternative to microarrays when direct quantification of the results is desired [41]. While the method was originally used for cancer studies, its use has extended to other disease applications as well. The SAGE protocol is as follows: after isolating mRNA from the sample, a short sequence tag (~10-15 bp) is obtained from a defined position within each mRNA molecule. These sequence tags, which contain enough information to identify their corresponding transcripts, are then linked to form long chain molecules that can be cloned and subsequently sequenced using conventional DNA sequencers. The resulting data are processed to count the number of times each tag is detected, yielding information about the absolute level of expression of the original transcripts in the sample.

The technique is relatively straightforward and only requires standard molecular biology protocols. Since there are no hybridization steps, the results are more quantitative than those obtained by microarray analysis. In addition, another advantage of SAGE is the lack of bias in the resulting expression profile. Because oligo-dT is used for cDNA synthesis, reverse transcription of the mRNA molecules is sequence independent. Likewise, the use of universal primers for PCR leads to unbiased amplification of the tags and ensures that the results accurately reflect the gene transcript in the sample. Moreover, this sequence independent transcription and amplification allows researchers to use SAGE to quantify expression without prior knowledge of the transcripts, and SAGE has in this manner enabled the identification of several novel genes and new gene variants.

However, the method suffers from some drawbacks which have prevented it from becoming more widely adopted. First, SAGE is characterized by poor sensitivity and necessitates a large amount of template material; a minimum of 2  $\mu$ g of poly-A mRNA or 2 million cells are usually required to perform SAGE. In addition, the protocol includes many time consuming steps necessary for processing the template in order to get the expression results. Finally, microarrays are a cheaper alternative, especially for performing large scale studies. Consequently, SAGE is usually reserved only for those cases when more exact quantification of transcripts is needed.

#### 1.2.4 Real Time-PCR

Real time PCR or quantitative PCR (qPCR) is used to amplify a DNA template while simultaneously quantifying its expression after each PCR cycle. When performing PCR, RNA sample is first reverse transcribed to cDNA, after which the amplification of template enables the analysis of gene expression even from small amounts of sample. Conventional PCR necessitates a detection and quantification step after the end of the amplification cycle. In contrast, qPCR provides real time fluorescence detection of the DNA as the amplification progresses. The change in fluorescence intensity as the reaction proceeds indicates the amplification yield and enables quantification. A popular method of detection is to use SYBR green intercalating dye to label DNA: when the dye binds to the double stranded PCR product, it fluoresces with an intensity that is proportional to the number of amplicons generated. Because the dye intercalates all double stranded products in a non-specific manner, the quantification is not always accurate and is highly susceptible to contamination. An alternative method is the use of gene-specific reporter probes. These oligonucleotide probes are dual labeled with a fluorescent reporter at the 5' end and a fluorescent quencher at the 3' end [42]. Due to the close proximity of the quencher and the reporter, the probe is not detected until the fluorescent reporter is released by the activity of the Taq polymerase during the extension step of PCR.

When used with reporter probes, qPCR is characterized by high specificity. Quantification is also highly accurate, since non-specific DNA amplification is not detected by the method. Another advantage is the ability to amplify and detect several genes in the same reaction by performing a multiplex qPCR assay where each target of interest is amplified by a primer and fluorescent probe with distinct label. The simultaneous detection of multiple transcripts reduces the analysis time and decreases the amount of template required. However, multiplex assays require a delicate balance of reagents in the reaction to ensure that all the targeted genes present in the sample are amplified with similar efficiency. In addition, because there is no post-amplification separation step, the multiplex capability of qPCR is limited by the spectral overlap of the fluorescent reporter probes. Another disadvantage of the qPCR method for analyzing gene expression is the inability to obtain absolute expression levels of transcripts. A relative concentration of the target is determined by plotting the observed fluorescence against the cycle number on a logarithmic scale and then comparing to a standard curve. This measured amount of expression must then be normalized to a housekeeping gene from the same reaction to allow comparison of expression between different samples. Because of these limitations, this method is not the optimal choice when absolute levels of expression of numerous targets are needed.

#### **1.3 Microfabricated Systems as Diagnostic Platforms**

Despite great advances in the study of gene expression and the development of many methods for the analysis of RNA, the goal of routine analysis of expression for cancer diagnosis is still unrealized. Yet, early detection is very effective against most types of cancers. For example, organ confined prostate cancer is easily treatable, but once the disease progresses to androgen independent metastasis, chances of survival are drastically reduced. In order for expression analysis to live up to its potential in helping reduce the incidence of cancer deaths, methods of expression analysis must become more widely accessible. A major hurdle remains the high price of these assays, and accordingly reducing costs and analysis time should be the priority in developing expression analysis methods for implementation for diagnostic purposes. Microfabricated devices are especially well suited for this purpose and have great potential in the development of point of care diagnostics.

Since the 1950s, several advancements in lithography-based technologies and microfabrication have been adapted from the semiconductor and integrated circuit industry to progress toward the goal of miniaturized bioanalysis systems [43,44]. These "lab-onchip" devices strive to replace conventional molecular and analytical methods by integrating several functions on a single device. Microfluidic devices have been used to perform a variety of assays, with applications ranging from biochemical analysis and environmental monitoring to synthetic chemistry [45-47]. This is because microfabrication makes it possible to rapidly build high throughput systems at low fabrication costs. In addition, microfluidic devices enjoy the advantages of reduced reagent consumption and lower sample requirement, which are particularly useful in clinical settings. Small scales also mean short diffusion distances and high surface to volume ratios which enhance reaction rate and sample mixing, generally resulting in faster analysis and response times [48]. Finally, small volumes and microfabrication offer potential for the integration of many functions on a compact system, including sample preparation, amplification, purification, and detection. By performing all processing steps on a single fully integrated system, sample loss and degradation can be minimized, and protocols are simplified. This has great potential for point-of-care diagnostics, which would greatly benefit from systems capable of detecting multiple analytes from complex biological samples.

Compared to conventional methods, integrated microfabricated systems offer several advantages including lower costs, reduced sample and reagent requirements, faster analysis times and increased automation. For these reasons, microfluidic devices will be investigated for the development of a reliable, robust and rapid system of expression analysis that can replace conventional methods and instruments. Methods of fabrication of the device, separation performance, as well as the detection method all impact the overall performance of the integrated microfluidic device for expression analysis.

#### **1.3.1 Fabrication**

Substrate properties dictate the design and fabrication of microfabricated devices and thus directly affect their performance. Specific optical properties, biochemical compatibility, and production costs must all be taken into account. Since first demonstrated by Harrison in 1992, the majority of microfluidics CE devices have been made of glass [49]. There are many reasons why glass has continued to be the preferred substrate for fabrication of integrated microfluidic devices. Its high dielectric strength and well-characterized surface chemistry make it easy to perform a variety of assays. In addition, the fact that glass is optically transparent and has low background fluorescence makes it an optimal material for optical detection [50]. While glass fabrication is expensive, the high cost can be amortized in the long run since the final devices are reusable by cleaning. In addition, when manufactured at high volume, glass microchips can be made at a reasonable cost [51].

Recently, disposable materials, especially polymers such as poly(dimethylsiloxane) (PDMS) and poly(methylmethacrylate (PMMA), have been explored to replace glass because they are widely available and inexpensive [52]. These materials benefit from a

variety of fabrication methods such as soft lithography, hot embossing, and injection molding techniques that are considerably simpler to perform than glass fabrication. However, their application in integrated bioanalytical devices is limited due to their native fluorescent background that restricts detection methods and results in poorer limits of detection. In addition, plastics and elastomers do not easily permit surface modification, making it difficult to perform high-quality separations which often require coating of the capillary channels.

Glass fabrication methods are directly derived from silicon processing steps used in semiconductor applications. The basic underpinning of the process is photolithography, which enables the fabrication of parallelized systems with high precision and in a highly repeatable manner. A typical process for the fabrication of a microfluidic device is shown in Figure 1.1. A glass wafer is first spin-coated with a layer of photoresist. Photolithography is used to define the features on the substrate, such as microfluidic channels for capillary electrophoresis, by exposure to ultraviolet (UV) radiation through a photomask. After removing the exposed area using a developer solvent, isotropic wet etching by hydrofluoric acid (HF) is used to define the channel depth. Reservoirs are created by drilling via holes into the glass wafer, after which it is thermally bonded to a blank glass wafer to create the microfluidic channels and reservoirs.



**Figure 1.1.** Glass microfabrication process. Photoresist is spun on a siliconcoated glass wafer, then patterned by UV lithography. After developing the unexposed photoresist, silicon is removed and the feature is etched into the glass layer. Reservoirs are drilled for fluidic access, and the patterned wafer is then thermally bonded to a blank wafer to create channels.

#### **1.3.2 Capillary Electrophoresis**

Cross-linked polyacrylamide gels have been used for size based fractionation of nucleic acids since the early days of DNA sequencing. In fact, the first commercial DNA sequencers were based on a slab gels onto which fluorescently labeled fragments migrated for detection by laser fluorescence excitation [53]. Capillary electrophoresis (CE) increased the throughput of these early technologies. Following Jorgenson and Lukacs' demonstration of the method [54], separation by capillary gel electrophoresis for sequencing was investigated to reduce analysis time, decrease reagent consumption as well as increase automation. Advances in miniaturization technology further revolutionized electrophoretic separations, as microfabricated CE devices provided all of the advantages of conventional CE systems but with the added benefits of micron scale capillary geometry and volumes. For example, a major advantage of microfabricated CE systems is their ability to perform faster separations. This is because analysis time is directly related to the magnitude of the electric field applied to the separation column, and the separation voltage than can be applied is generally limited by the system's ability to dissipate joule heating during electrophoresis. Because microchannels have a high surface-to-volume ratio, they overcome this limitation by being capable of rapid heat dissipation. As a result, CE in microchannels allows the application of higher electric potentials to achieve faster separations and higher resolutions compared to conventional electrophoresis.

Separation performance is measured by the resolving power of the system, which in turn benefits from long separation columns. This effect is most obvious in DNA sequencing, where the quest for high read lengths has led to the development of ever longer capillaries [55]. These however, require longer analysis times and very high potentials which limit their usefulness. In contrast, CE on microdevices boasts high resolution that can be achieved with lower potentials and smaller separation lengths that drastically reduce separation time. In addition, because of the ease of microfabrication, channels can be designed to be folded into compact serpentine structures rather than increasing the size of the substrate to accommodate them [56]. These "hyperturns" enable longer separation channel lengths while minimizing geometric band dispersion, and microfabricated devices using them have been able to demonstrate superior capillary electrophoresis resolution required for performing DNA sequencing.

The proven capabilities of these single channel devices for fast analysis and superior performance have led to a renewed interest in increasing the ability of microfabricated devices to perform parallel analysis. In particular, the goal of low cost genetic screening heightened the interest in developing high-throughput microfabricated capillary arrays for capillary electrophoresis. Microfabrication is ideal for rapidly producing the dense arrays necessary for high throughput analysis. Genotyping array chips capable of analyzing 96 samples in parallel were introduced in 1998 [57], followed by a 96-lane high-resolution sequencing array in 2002 [58]. A larger 384-lane genotyping chip served to exemplify the ability of microfabrication to facilitate parallelism for high throughput systems [59]. Advancements in fabrication technology have also fostered ever-increasing functionality of microfabricated devices. The development of techniques for making miniaturized devices capable of fluidic manipulation and thermal control has resulted in the integration of sample preparation steps on CE devices. The first integrated PCR-CE device in 1996 coupled rapid thermal cycling with electrophoresis to decrease the total analysis time 6-fold [60].

Pneumatically actuated fluidic controls such as microvalves and pumps capable of controlling nanoliter volumes have likewise increased the functionality of CE devices and have accelerated the development of integrated devices for a multitude of applications, including pathogen detection [61], forensic analysis [62], and even space exploration [63].

#### 1.3.3 Detection

Nucleic acids and oligonucleotides can easily be labeled using intercalating fluorescent dyes or by linkage with a fluorescent label. This makes optical detection of biomolecules inside microdevices easily accomplished by direct fluorescence measurements. Advances in fluorescent microscopes and CCD cameras have made this method widely accessible for low cost detection while maintaining flexibility of the microdevice and detection system. However, these methods lack sensitivity and often require large amounts of labeled analytes for detection. Laser induced fluorescence (LIF) addresses this problem by using focused laser light to excite the fluorescent molecules, enabling their detection with high sensitivity. In addition, methods based on LIF allow the detection of several emission wavelengths from a single excitation source. This ability to simultaneously use multiple fluorophores is especially attractive for multiplex assays, as it is another way to discern between different sample components in addition to separation based on CE mobility.

A good example of this type of detection system is the Berkeley rotary confocal scanner built by Dr. Jim Scherer and used in the experiments described in Chapter 2. As shown in Figure 1.2, a 488-nm argon ion laser beam is passed through a dichroic beam splitter and directed up the hollow shaft of a stepper motor. The beam is displaced off the axis of rotation by a rhomb prism and focused on the microchannels by a 60X objective. The collected fluorescence travels back along the same path, passes through the dichroic beam splitter and enters a series of beamsplitters, filters and PMT detectors. This system allows high sensitivity 4-color detection of samples analyzed on microfabricated devices.



**Figure 1.2**. The Berkeley rotary confocal fluorescence scanner. Laser excitation is reflected by a dichroic beamsplitter through a hollow shaft stepper motor and deflected by a rhomb prism. Fluorescence is collected by a microscope objective and passes through the same optical path and into the detector assembly. The detector is composed of a series of optics to spectrally and spatially filter fluorescence and 4 PMTs to enable four-color detection. Adapted from [111].

#### **1.4 Integrated Function for High-Performance Detection**

A requirement for high performance analysis is effective interfacing of the sample injection with capillary electrophoresis. An efficient injection decreases the sample requirements for analysis and addresses a major drawback of conventional methods which often necessitate large amounts of template. One of the most useful functions that can be integrated on chip is affinity capture, which can increase sensitivity by performing sample concentration and sample clean-up. By improving the sample injection and generating quantitative plugs of purified sample, optimal efficiency of microdevice-based gene expression analysis can be achieved, paving the way for its application in a variety of research and clinical settings.

#### 1.4.1 Sample Injection Methods

The majority of microdevices that perform CE separations use a cross injector to inject sample into the CE channel. This ubiquitous structure permits the formation of small sample plugs for injection of the sample, as shown in Figure 1.3. In the first step, a positive potential is applied to the waste reservoir (W) while the sample reservoir (S) is grounded. This drives negatively charged analytes electrophoretically from the sample to waste, thus filling the microchannel intersection. In the next step, the contents of the pL-sample plug formed in this manner are injected into the separation channel by applying a potential between the cathode reservoir (C) and the anode (A). A small positive potential is also applied at S and W during the run to remove excess sample in the injection arm.



**Figure 1.3**. Comparison of cross-injection and affinity capture methods. Crossinjection is performed by filling the channel intersection with sample and then applying a separation voltage from the cathode to anode. The sample plug is defined by the channel size and geometry of the intersection. In affinity capture, sample is immobilized on a gel plug prior to electrophoresis. This enables concentration of the sample, resulting in increased sensitivity compared to crossinjection.

One drawback of the cross injection method is that it suffers from electrokinetic injection bias. Small species have high electrophoretic mobility and move into the intersection first. Because these will in most cases be salts and primers, this bias complicates optimization of the injection, and makes it highly sensitive to timing. In addition, cross injection is highly inefficient. Excess sample is necessary to establish enough analyte in the cross injection region. However, the volume injected for analysis is only a small fraction of the total sample, while much of it remains in the reservoirs. As a result, analysis suffers from low sensitivity despite large sample requirements. Moreover, because only a fraction of the total sample is injected and detected, quantification of the results is difficult. Various improvements in injector geometries to achieve better efficiencies and maximize sample use have been investigated [64]. However, the fundamental limitations of sensitivity and quantification of analysis using cross-injection make the method incompatible with the ultimate goal of an integrated point-of-care device.

To address the problems plaguing cross injections, several alternatives have been developed to integrate improved sample injection, cleanup, and preconcentration steps on microdevices. For example, Ueberfield demonstrated the use of carboxyl-modified magnetic beads for DNA capture and injection for on-chip electrophoresis [65]. Sample purification and concentration have also been accomplished using solid phase extraction columns [66] and membrane filtration [67]. However, the most promising approach for achieving on-chip sample purification is an affinity capture technique that utilizes a functionalized acrylamide gel matrix. This method is based on the integration of a covalently attached affinity probe into the gel matrix during acrylamide polymerization, allowing capture of the desired product in a specific manner. When sample is driven through the capture plug by electrophoresis, it is purified as target molecules become immobilized in the gel matrix while buffers, primers, and non-specific charged products continue to migrate through the gel and into the waste reservoir. The purified and concentrated bound products can then be thermally released for injection into the CE channel and separation.

Two types of affinity capture are made possible in this manner. In the case of oligonucleotide-based capture, the gel is prepared by copolymerizing the polymer solution with a 20-25 nt long capture oligonucleotide probe that is modified at the 5' end with an acrydite element capable of incorporating into acrylamide chains. Because the probe is complementary to a common sequence on the desired products present in the sample, fragments are selectively hybridized to the gel and are immobilized. Multiple fragments can be captured using one probe simply by adding a universal sequence tag on the targets, or alternatively several oligonucleotide probes can be included in the gel for multiplex capture. This method has been demonstrated for sample cleanup of sequencing reaction products, reducing the time necessary for sample purification to only two minutes while generating superior separation performance and read lengths [68]. Alternatively, it is possible to take advantage of the strong affinity between streptavidin and biotin by incorporating streptavidin-modified acrylamide into the capture matrix. As the sample is electrophoresed into the gel plug, all biotinylated products are captured regardless of sequence. This method is especially useful for capturing double stranded products generated by on chip PCR: a biotin labeled strand is captured in the gel while its complementary fluorescently labeled strand can be released thermally for detection. In addition, the universal nature of the capture is an advantage, as it obviates the need for optimization of capture and release temperatures for multiplex assays. Both methods are effective for concentrating the desired

sample components for sample cleanup and increased sensitivity, and when integrated on the microdevice can be a viable alternative to common off-chip cleanup methodologies that utilize magnetic beads and large volumes of reagents.

#### **1.4.2 Photopolymerization in situ**

Although gel affinity capture has been pursued to replace traditional cross injection techniques, a challenge continues to be generating the small capture band of sample necessary for high-resolution separations. For example, the use of a side-arm gel capture was an improvement over cross-injection, but the T-shaped affinity injection structure caused band dispersion and distortion during injection into the separation channel [69]. An inline injection system that employs a plug of affinity matrix directly between the cathode and anode in the separation capillary was later shown to be more efficient [70]. However, the device was characterized by low performance as measured by continuous read length. The poor resolution obtained by this technique was attributed to the migration of the negatively-charged capture matrix toward the anode when separation potentials are applied. Moreover, the mechanical properties of the linear acrylamide gels employed caused them to expand at elevated separation temperatures, causing additional band broadening of the injected DNA band. Another disadvantage of these methods was that the capture gel was synthesized off-chip, which necessitated tedious manual gel loading procedures and contributed to low reproducibility.

To exploit the advantages of inline capture, yet eliminate the need for manual loading of capture gel and improve the repeatability and efficiency of the injection, a method for photopolymerization of capture plugs in situ was developed. In conventional polymerization of acrylamide matrices, a chemical agent such as ammonium persulfate decomposes spontaneously in solution, initiating a radical reaction that extends the polymer chains [71]. In contrast, photopolymerization uses otherwise stable photoinitiators that only generate radicals upon irradiation with ultraviolet (UV) light. This allows rapid formation of the matrix while controlling the timing and location of the polymerization.

Photopolymerization has previously been used in microdevices to create sieving matrices for DNA, as well as for protein sizing and hybridization based assays for DNA detection [72-74]. The formation of a capture gel plug by photoinitiated polymerization inside a microdevice is achieved by loading a gel precursor solution containing an acrylamide monomer, crosslinker, initiator and capture probe into the channel by capillary action. The chip is then irradiated with UV light source for several minutes through a chrome mask, allowing the reaction to progress in the unmasked region. After a short (5-10 min) exposure, remaining unpolymerized solution is removed, resulting in the formation of a precisely defined capture gel plug in the unmasked region of the channel (Figure 1.4).



**Figure 1.4**. A photopolymerized capture gel plug. The photopolymerization method enables the formation of well-defined gel plugs with high control over the location and size of the gel. Here a 500  $\mu$ m functionalized capture plug for sample concentration by oligonucleotide capture is shown.

A number of reasons make the preparation of the affinity capture matrix by photopolymerization advantageous over off-chip synthesis. First, photolithographic patterning allows precise control over the location, size, and shape of the capture region, and sample plugs can be spatially defined inside the microdevice with high repeatability without having to rely on channel geometry. Second, cross-linked photopolymerized gels are very robust and can easily be anchored to the channel wall by using acrylamide-containing coatings. This increased mechanical strength eliminates gel expansion and electromigration that cause band broadening, thereby improving electrophoretic separation. Finally, because CE performance on microfluidic devices is primarily limited by the separation channel length and by the size of the injected sample plug, the ability to easily produce small gel plugs directly improves resolution of the separation. Microdevices employing photopolymerized capture matrices with CE separation have successfully been demonstrated for the purification and injection of PCR products with near 100% efficiency [75], as well as for increasing sensitivity and resolution for forensic typing [76] and pathogen detection [77].

#### **1.5 Scope of the Dissertation**

The goal of the work described in this dissertation is the development of methods for the application of microfabricated capillary electrophoresis devices for cancer detection. Primarily, this work has focused on the detection of tumor-associated biomarkers using gene expression analysis. A microfabricated device is an ideal system for this type of analysis because multiple processes can be integrated on a single device on a small volume scale. Separation by capillary electrophoresis combined with laser-induced fluorescence allows high sensitivity and multiplex detection, and coupled with the integration of a sample concentration and purification step, it is an attractive assay platform for multiplex transcript analysis.

A microdevice incorporating these elements is presented in Chapter 2. A protocol for performing Transcript Analysis with Aid of Affinity Capture (TRAC) is optimized for the purpose of monitoring the expression of genes implicated in cancer. This method is used along with the integrated microdevice to perform multiplex gene expression analysis of several prostate targets. The capabilities of the integrated system are demonstrated by the successful identification of the expression signatures of several established cancer cell lines directly from cells and with high sensitivity.

Finally, the future of integrated microdevices as clinical diagnostic tools for cancer detection is explored. Possible improvements to the system are addressed, as well as methods for expanding the microdevice to a high-throughput microfabricated capillary array. To take full advantage of recent advancements in microfabrication techniques in the areas of low-volume fluid manipulation, on-chip thermal cycling, and high-resolution separation, a fully integrated device is also proposed. By enabling sample preparation, purification, inline injection, and capillary electrophoresis on a single device, total sample analysis time and the number of cells required for analysis are reduced. The fully integrated microdevice could revolutionize the field of point-of-care diagnostics by enabling the rapid and facile detection of comprehensive cancer expression profiles from complex clinical samples.

## Chapter 2

Integrated Capillary Electrophoresis Microdevice for Multiplex Analysis of Cancer Gene Expression

#### 2.1 Summary

A four-channel capillary electrophoresis microdevice that integrates sample cleanup and concentration by on-chip capture coupled with electrophoretic separation is developed for multiplex analysis of gene expression. Prostate cancer genes are assaved by solution hybridization of mRNA with complementary fluorescently-labeled detection probes. Affinity bead capture is used to immobilize and isolate the mRNA-probe complexes. Detection probes are released from the beads and then captured on-chip by an oligonucleotide-modified cross-linked acrylamide capture gel photopolymerized in situ. These cleanup and concentration steps enable efficient injection into the CE channel for separation and four-color detection. Using total RNA extracted from PC-3 cells, prostate gene targets can be detected from as little as 75 ng of starting material. The ability of the assay and microdevice system to evaluate gene expression directly from cell lysates is also demonstrated. The transcript copy number of ten genes was measured in the human prostate cancer cell lines LNCaP, VCaP, PC-3 and 22Rv1, enabling the identification of a distinct gene expression fingerprint for each cell line. The low-volume, high sensitivity, multiplex genetic analysis enabled by this integrated microdevice platform can be extended to cancer diagnostic applications as well as monitoring of disease progression.

#### **2.2 Introduction**

Accurate expression analysis of the genes implicated in cancer is important for disease diagnosis as well as prediction of outcome. Identification of biomarkers with expression that correlates with clinical disease facilitates diagnostic tests for early cancer detection. For example, detection of prostate cancer relies heavily on measurements of serum prostate specific antigen (PSA) levels [78,79]. However, this biomarker lacks specificity, and often fails to distinguish prostate cancer from non-malignant conditions such as benign prostate hyperplasia (BPH) [80,81]. Because prostate cancer progresses through distinct stages from pre-invasive disease, to invasive cancer, and then to androgen-dependent or independent metastases [82], the ability to stratify disease by clinical significance is valuable for treatment decisions. For these reasons, a method for multiplex analysis of biomarkers to identify patterns of gene expression is likely to be a more effective approach than single biomarker assays [83-85].

Existing methods for the identification of multiplex gene expression signatures with high sensitivity and specificity all have limitations. Systematic interrogation of expression by microarray analysis [86,87] has been used for large scale biomarker identification [88], profiling of tumor samples [89], as well as detection of cancer gene expression fingerprints [90,91] and prognosis markers [92,93]. However, standard microarray analysis is characterized by low sensitivity [94,95], and relies on reverse transcription to cDNA which can distort transcription profiles [96]. Quantitative PCR (qPCR) features higher sensitivity but likewise necessitates extensive template preparation including transcript amplification which makes quantification of expression less reliable [97,98]. Its use in multiplex assays is further limited by spectral overlap of the fluorescent dyes as well as by diminished robustness of PCR caused by multiple primer pairs [99]. Recently, a method called transcript analysis with aid of affinity capture (TRAC) has been demonstrated for robust and sensitive analysis of a selected set of genes [100]. This method involves solution hybridization with a pool of target-specific probes that are subsequently identified and quantified by capillary electrophoresis (CE). Because this approach features rapid solution hybridization kinetics and does not require RNA purification, reverse transcription, or PCR amplification, it is attractive for the study of gene expression. TRAC has previously been used for transcript analysis of microbial cultures [101], monitoring yeast in fermentation processes [102] and for multiplex quantification of bacterial populations [103]. In those studies, high throughput was achieved by automation of sample processing steps using magnetic bead processors and separation on conventional genetic analyzers. In addition to being cost prohibitive, these commercial devices require large volumes of reagents and sample. Moreover, only a fraction of the prepared sample is injected and analyzed on commercial CE systems, limiting the ability to quantify results. This injection problem also results in decreased sensitivity due to loss of material unless PCR amplifiable probes are used [104]. To address these limitations, as well as reduce costs, sample usage, and analysis time, a microchip-based approach for genetic analysis is desirable.

Advances in microfluidics have enabled rapid, high-throughput, and low cost genetic analysis [50,49]. Analysis on a microdevice enables high performance separation [49,58] as well as the integration of multiple processes, such as concentration for increased sensitivity [105]. On-chip oligonucleotide-based affinity capture prior to electrophoresis [69,70,106] has been used to specifically hybridize detection probes to a complementary probe in a

capture gel photopolymerized in situ. This integrated capture concentration step on a photopolymerized gel has been demonstrated for sample cleanup and injection for forensic short tandem repeat analysis [76,107] and multiplex pathogen detection [77]. These previous studies suggest that a microfluidic analysis device with integrated capture on-chip has potential as a good analytical platform to perform TRAC and to address some of the challenges of the method.

In this study, we develop a microdevice and method for efficient capture, concentration, injection and electrophoresis for sensitive and quantitative detection of selected gene targets. To evaluate the method for gene expression analysis and assess sensitivity and limits of detection, prostate cancer gene targets were detected from total RNA samples. The ability of the assay and microdevice system to analyze cells directly was tested by obtaining gene expression patterns of four established human prostate cancer cell lines. The identification of distinct quantifiable expression fingerprints for metastatic tumor derived cell lines LNCaP, VCaP and PC-3, and organ-confined tumor line 22Rv1 demonstrates the feasibility of using this method to identify gene expression signatures implicated in prostate cancer. This multiplex genetic analysis could also be useful for the direct and quantitative study of other cancers, as well as the characterization of the unique expression signature of many processes, including mechanisms of disease progression.

#### 2.3 Materials and Methods

#### 2.3.1 Microdevice design and fabrication

The microdevice (Figure 2.1A) consists of four analyzers arrayed on a 100-mm diameter glass wafer. The analyzers share a common anode and perform sample injection, concentration and CE separation in parallel on up to four samples. An expanded view of the sample injection and capture region is shown in Figure 2.1B. Each analyzer consists of a tapered 300-nL sample reservoir that is in-line with a 500  $\mu$ m long double T-junction followed by a separation channel with 10-cm effective length. A 2-mm region between the sample reservoir and the double T-junction facilitates the loading of a backing gel to isolate the capture region from denaturants present in the sample.

The microdevice was fabricated using methods described previously [108]. Briefly, after photolithographic patterning on a 500  $\mu$ m thick Borofloat glass wafer, features were formed by isotropic etching in 49% hydrofluoric acid (HF) to a depth of 45  $\mu$ m. Wells were drilled into the fluidic layer, and the wafer was then thermally bonded to a 1.1 mm thick backing wafer.



**Figure 2.1**. (A) Layout of the multichannel capture-capillary electrophoresis (CE) microdevice for gene expression analysis. Four analyzers are arrayed on a 100-mm diameter glass wafer and joined by a common anode for multichannel detection. Each analyzer is composed of a sample reservoir, capture region, and 10-cm long CE channel. (B) Magnified view of the sample injection/capture region. The etched 300 nL sample reservoir is in-line with a 500 µm offset that allows the formation of a capture plug by photopolymerization. A 110 µm wide, 2-mm long channel isolates the capture plug from the sample. Fluidic access points are drilled at the sample (S), cathode (C) and waste (W) wells.

#### 2.3.2 Cell culture and lysis

Prostate cancer cell lines PC-3, VCaP, 22Rv1 and LNCaP clone FGC were obtained from American Type Culture Collection (Rockville, MD) and preserved at the Cell Culture Facility at the University of California at San Francisco (UCSF/CCF). The cells were grown at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. PC-3 cells were maintained in F-12K Medium (ATCC, Rockville, MD), VCaP cells in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (ATCC, Rockville, MD), 22Rv1 and LNCaP cells in RPMI-1640 medium (ATCC, Rockville, MD). All media were supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and contained 100 units/mL penicillin and 100 mg/mL streptomycin. Confluent monolayers of PC-3 and 22Rv1 cells were washed with 1X phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (ATCC, Rockville, MD), then incubated with Trypsin-EDTA for 5-10 min at 37 °C to dislodge the cells. Loosely attached clusters of VCaP and LNCaP were collected prior to this trypsinization step. Cell pellets were obtained by centrifugation at 2500 rpm for 5 min and washed three times with PBS. After counting cells with a hemocytometer, lysis was performed by adding 1 mL of lysis buffer (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) to 1-2 million cells and disrupting the pellet by shearing. Viscosity of the samples was reduced by passing through a 21 gauge needle using a 1 mL syringe after lysis. Cell lysates were frozen immediately and stored at -80 °C until used in sample preparation.

#### 2.3.3 Probe pool design

Detection probes for cancer gene targets were designed using mathematical algorithms previously published [109]. The final probes were selected using specificity criteria described in earlier work [101,102]; all were 100% complementary to their gene target. Hybridization results were verified by comparison with GeneSapiens, a database of mRNA expression levels based on the results of Affymetrix microarray experiments with total RNA extracted from cell lines [110].

A short FAM labeled probe was also designed to match the in vitro transcribed (IVT) RNA of a rat Gria4 gene serving as an internal standard in the sample preparation. The oligonucleotides probes were synthesized with either a 6-FAM or HEX fluophore label at the 5' end by Biosearch Technologies (Novato, CA). All fluorescently labeled probes included a 20 nt long universal sequence that is complementary to the capture probe contained in the photopolymerized capture gel plug. Final probe lengths were adjusted to optimize separation on-chip and probes were organized into a detection pool for prostate cancer genes as shown in Table 2.1.
Gene	Sequence	Size (nt)	Label
Gria	GTGAACACAGACGGCTCTGCCGATCCCAGCCAACCTTAAC CAATT	45	FAM
KRT19	TTATTGGCAGGTCAGGAGAAGAGCCGGGCCAGCCAACCTT AACCAATT	49	FAM
PSA	GAGAAATTGAGTGATATGTCTCCAGGCATGGCCCAGCCAAC CTTAACCAATT	52	FAM
GAPDH	AGCACAGGGTACTTTATTGATGGTACATGACAAGGCCAGCC AACCTTAACCAATT	56	FAM
KRT20	ATGTAGGGTTAGGTCATCAAAGACCTTATTCAGGCCTTGCC AGCCAACCTTAACCAATT	59	FAM
SPINK1	CTGATGGGATTTCAAAACCTTGGTTCTCAGCAAGGCCCAGA TCCAGCCAACCTTAACCAATT	64	FAM
UPA	CTAGGCTAAAAGGAAGGGATAACTGGCCAAGAAAGGGACA TCTAGCCAGCCAACCTTAACCAATT	67	HEX
KLK2	CAAAACTTAGTAAAGCAAGACCATGACATTCCCCCACGGAA ATCAGAGCCAGCCAACCTTAACCAATT	68	FAM
AR	CTTGAGCAGGATGTGGGATTTTTTCTTTTGCATGCAATGATA CGATCGACCAGCCAACCTTAACCAATT	69	FAM
STEAP	CACTTCATGTAACACCCCAGATTTACAATGGCTTAAATGCA GGAAAAAGCAGCCAGCCAACCTTAACCAATT	73	HEX
ERG	TGTGTTTCTAGCATGCATTAACCGTGGAGAGTTTTGTAAGG CTTTATCAACATCACCAGCCAACCTTAACCAATT	75	FAM

**Table 2.1**: Probe sequences and labels for multiplex detection of prostate cancer genes

## 2.3.4 Sample preparation

Variable amounts of PC-3 total RNA (Ambion, Austin, TX) or cell lysates were added to a hybridization reaction with 1 pmol of each fluorescently labeled detection probe and 5x SSC (750 mM sodium chloride, 75 mM sodium citrate), 0.2% SDS, 1x Denhardt (0.02% Ficoll, 0.02% polyvinyl pyrrolidone, 0.02% BSA, Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and 3% Dextran sulphate (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) as illustrated in Figure 2.2A. For experiments comparing expression between cell lines, 0.2 fmol of rat Gria4 IVT RNA per reaction was added to provide an internal standard. All solutions were prepared in DEPCtreated water and autoclaved prior to use. Hybridizations were performed in RNase-free tubes at 65 °C for 3 hrs. Following hybridization of the probes with the mRNA in the samples, an affinity capture step was used to remove cell debris, unbound RNA and excess probes. Washed Oligo(dT) coated magnetic beads (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) were added to the sample following the manufacturer's protocol and incubated with continuous rotation at room temperature for 45 min. Beads were collected using a magnet and washed twice with 150 µL of 1x SSC, 0.1% SDS at room temperature, followed by two additional washes with 150 µL of 0.5x SSC, 0.1% SDS. In the final step, washed beads were eluted into deionized formamide (Applied Biosystems, Carlsbad, CA) at 37 °C for 5 min, and the eluate was kept at 4 °C until on-chip analysis.



**Figure 2.2.** Schematic of sample preparation and device operation. (A) Poly(A)-containing mRNAs from cell lysates are first hybridized with a pool of fluorophore labeled detection probes at 65 °C. After affinity capture of hybridized targets by oligo(dT)-coated magnetic beads, unbound material is washed away and the fluorescent probes are eluted from the beads. (B) Microdevice operation: (1) After coating the channel walls, an acrylamide monomer solution is loaded into the channels and the 5%T, 5%C gel plug is formed by photopolymerization. (2) A 6% LPA separation matrix is loaded from the anode and 2.5% LPA backing gel is loaded between the capture plug and sample reservoir. (3) Sample is electrophoresed into the capture plug by applying a field from S to W, and probes containing the universal oligonucleotide sequence are captured. (4) Labeled probes are released at 65 °C, separated at 230 V/cm and detected by laser induced fluorescence on a rotary confocal scanner.

## 2.3.5 Capture gel preparation

A crosslinked polyacrylamide capture gel was synthesized by in situ photopolymerization as reported previously.[76,75] A monomer solution consisting of 5% (v/v) solution of 19:1 acrylamide/bis-acrylamide (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) in 1x TTE (50 mM Tris, 50 mM TAPS acid and 1 mM EDTA) and 500 nmol of a 5' acrydite-modified oligonucleotide capture probe (Integrated DNA Technologies (IDT), Coralville, IA) was prepared in an opaque scintillation vial with Teflon closure (National Scientific, Rockwood, TN). After sparging at room temperature under N<sub>2</sub> gas for 10 min, 0.125% (v/v) TEMED and 0.0006% (w/v) riboflavin (Sigma Aldrich, St Louis, MO) were added to the monomer solution. To form a 500 µm capture gel plug in the offset double-T junction of each analyzer, the microdevice was aligned under microscope with a chrome photomask (Nanofilm, Westlake Village, CA) patterned with exposure windows. After treatment of the microdevice with a dynamic coating for 4 min (The Gel Company, San Francisco, CA), the monomer solution was introduced into the microchannels and photopolymerization of the exposed region was initiated by irradiating for 10 min with ultraviolet light (10 mW/cm<sup>2</sup>) from a mercury arc lamp equipped with a 340-380 nm filter. Following exposure, unreacted polymer solution on both sides of the capture plugs was removed from the microdevice and replaced with 1x TTE buffer, completing the photopolymerization step (Figure 2.2B, step 1).

#### 2.3.6 Microdevice operation

After the formation of the capture gel plugs, a separation matrix consisting of 6% linear polyacrylamide (LPA) in 1x TTE was loaded from the anode into the separation channels by applying pressure until the gel filled the waste wells (Figure 2.2B, step 2). A 2.5% LPA in 1x TTE used as a backing gel was loaded manually from the cathode well to fill the microchannel from the top of the capture plug to the bottom of the sample reservoir. A manifold containing platinum electrodes was placed on the chip to electrically connect each of the sample, cathode and waste wells. Prepared sample was loaded into the sample reservoir and wells, and 1x TTE running buffer was placed into the cathode, waste and anode wells prior to electrophoresis. To concentrate the sample by affinity capture, an electric field of 200 V/cm was first applied between the sample and waste wells for 200 s to inject the sample into the top of the capture region (Figure 2.2B, step 3). A smaller electric field of 20 V/cm was simultaneously applied between the cathode and waste wells to prevent loss of the sample to the cathode arm. Affinity capture was performed by lowering the electric field to 100 V/cm to allow the oligonucleotide sequence in the gel plug to hybridize at 30 °C with the complementary universal sequence on the fluorescent detection probes in the sample. These capture conditions were optimized by fluorescence imaging of the sample as it progressed through the loaded microchannel.

After a 12 min capture step, the sample was removed from the sample reservoir and wells and replaced with 1x TTE buffer. The bound products were then washed by electrophoresing buffer through the capture plug for two minutes to remove any unbound material. Following capture, the microdevice was heated to 65 °C to release the fluorescently labeled probes, and a separation field of 230 V/cm field was applied from the sample and cathode wells to the anode. The fluorescent probes were detected by laser-induced fluorescence provided by a four color rotary confocal scanner [111]. The capture

gel plugs and separation matrix were expelled after each run and the microdevice was thoroughly washed with water. The microchannels were flushed with heated piranha solution (3:1 mixture of  $H_2SO_4$  and  $H_2O_2$ , respectively) to restore the glass surface before the next run.

## 2.3.7 Data processing

Four-color data obtained from the scanner were first processed using BaseFinder v.6.1 [112] to correct fluorescence crosstalk by applying a custom deconvolution matrix. Resulting traces were baseline-corrected and smoothed via a 0.3% Loess filter using PeakFit v4. (Systat Software, Inc., San Jose, CA). Electropherograms were also analyzed with PeakFit to determine the resolution as well as peak efficiency, amplitude and area.

## 2.4 Results and Discussion

#### 2.4.1 Microdevice and assay design

The microdevice enabled sensitive and quantitative gene expression analysis as a result of integrated on-chip injection, affinity capture and separation by capillary electrophoresis (CE). As shown in Figure 2.2A, samples were prepared by solution hybridization of cell lysates with a pool of target-specific detection probes (Table 2.1). Excess oligonucleotide probes in the reaction provided fast solution binding kinetics, while binding specificity was ensured by the high 65 °C hybridization temperature [103]. Probe-mRNA complexes formed were immobilized on magnetic beads so that excess probes, unbound RNA and cell debris could be washed away. The sample preparation protocol was improved by utilizing the poly(A) tails of intact mRNA to bind the complexes directly to Oligo(dT) coated beads, instead of the streptavidin-coated beads and biotinylated oligo(dT) used in previous work [101,102]. This bead affinity capture step enabled the analysis of total RNA extracts as well as crude cell lysates without mRNA isolation or purification.

Sample concentration by affinity capture was enabled by the use of a photopolymerized gel plug which contains a capture probe complementary to a universal sequence of the detection probes (Figure 2.2B). This target-independent capture eased limitations on the thermodynamic properties of the detection probes and eliminated lengthy optimization of hybridization conditions for the multiplex assay. Because the backing gel isolates the gel plug from the sample reservoir, affinity capture was achieved even with samples that contained denaturants, enabling analysis directly after elution from beads.

## 2.4.2 Probe pool analysis

Detection of prostate cancer gene targets was accomplished using size based separation and spectral discrimination of their corresponding detection probes. As shown in Figure 2.3, all eleven probes included in the prostate cancer detection pool were resolved with an average resolution of 1.9 between 45 and 75 nucleotides. Detection probes differing in size by a single nucleotide were differentiated with a resolution of 0.9. This high resolution, comparable to that obtained on commercial sequencing platforms [113] is a result of the integration of on-chip affinity capture on a photopolymerized gel plug. Photopolymerization of the polyacrylamide capture gel allows precise control of the dimensions of the 500-µm capture plug [72,73]. The captured detection probes are thus confined to a small injection band that is in-line with the separation channel, minimizing injection band broadening and improving separation [76]. The robustness of the gel plug also eliminated the problem of gel expansion that has been shown to reduce resolution in previous work [114].

Multiplex detection was achieved by combining CE separation of probes with multicolor detection of both FAM (blue) and HEX (green) fluorescent labels. Separation of the probe pool was characterized by average peak efficiency of  $2 \times 10^4$  theoretical plates/cm. Peak capacity, defined as the maximum number of analytes that can be detected by the system, was determined to be 45 in the 310-380 s time interval. Additionally, the number of gene targets analyzed could be doubled by detecting two additional fluorescent labels on the

four-color rotary scanner. This theoretical calculation suggests that the microdevice system is well suited for multiplex analysis.



**Figure 2.3**. On-chip separation of the prostate cancer probe pool. Electropherogram shows that all eleven detection probes are resolved by electrophoresis at 230 V/cm on a 6% LPA gel with an average resolution of 0.9. Multiplex analysis is achieved by detecting two spectrally resolved fluorescent labels, FAM (blue) and HEX (green).

## 2.4.3 Analysis of total RNA samples

The successful detection of gene targets from total RNA samples is demonstrated in Figure 2.4. Total RNA extracted from PC-3 cells was hybridized with the full prostate cancer detection probe pool then analyzed on-chip directly following elution. Peaks generated by CE separation were identified by comparing with the migration times of the detection probes separated on-chip under the same electrophoretic conditions. As shown in Figure 2.4A, three large peaks were identified, indicating the high expression of cytokeratin-19 (KRT19) and urokinase-type plasminogen activator (UPA) genes in addition to the glyceraldehydes 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) housekeeping gene. Two small additional blue peaks were also detected from 2 µg of total RNA but were not detectable at lower amounts of sample, indicating that the genes STEAP and ERG are expressed in the cells at low levels. Other prostate cancer genes targeted by the probe pool were not detected. The pattern of gene expression in PC-3 cells uncovered by this analysis was confirmed by comparing to GeneSapiens, a database of mRNA expression levels determined by Affymetrix microarray experiments [110]. While this database does not show quantitative expression levels, relative abundance of KRT19, UPA and STEAP were consistent with results observed.



**Figure 2.4.** On-chip analysis of total RNA samples from PC-3 cells. (A) Electropherogram shows the gene expression pattern for the PC-3 cell line obtained with 2  $\mu$ g of total RNA. As expected for this cell line, the cells show high expression of genes KRT19 and UPA in addition to the housekeeping GAPDH gene. Low amounts of STEAP and ERG are also detectable, while other prostate cancer genes targeted by the probe pool are not detected. (B) Assay sensitivity determination. Samples are prepared with 250, 500, 1000, and 2000 ng of total RNA (n = 3 for each data point), and the S/N ratios for each of the detected probes at the starting sample amounts are shown. This analysis shows that the microdevice can be used to detect the expression pattern of PC-3 cells without amplification with only 250 ng of totRNA sample, with S/N > 10.

## 2.4.4 Assay sensitivity

Assay sensitivity was determined by varying the starting amount of total RNA used in the hybridization reaction and measuring resulting signal to noise ratios. Figure 2.4B shows the S/N for the KRT19, GAPDH and UPA probe peaks detected in the total RNA of PC-3 cells over the range of 250 ng to 2  $\mu$ g of starting total RNA amount. The results show a linear relationship between the amount of input sample total RNA and fluorescence intensity of the probe peaks. In addition, the pattern of gene expression obtained from the total RNA of PC-3 cells was maintained over the range of concentrations studied. All three peaks included in the expression pattern for PC-3 were detected on the microdevice with S/N > 10 with only 250 ng of starting total RNA sample, demonstrating the high sensitivity of the system. Extrapolation of the obtained linear regression for S/N = 3 yields calculated limits of detection for the KRT19, GAPDH and UPA genes of 55 ng, 45 ng, and 75 ng, respectively, meaning that as little as 75 ng of total RNA sample can be used to identify the gene expression pattern for the PC-3 cell line. This limit of detection is lower than the 1-10 µg typically required for standard microarray analysis. Although not as sensitive as real-time PCR, these results were obtained without transcript amplification. The high sensitivity of the on-chip analysis stems from the integrated photopolymerized capture plug which serves to concentrate the sample as it is injected by electrophoresis into the device, resulting in a 3-5 fold increase in signal intensity [75]. These results demonstrate the suitability of the assay and microdevice system for sensitive analysis of gene expression without amplification.

## 2.4.5 Detection of gene expression fingerprints directly from cells

To demonstrate the ability of the assay and microdevice system to perform gene expression analysis of cells, samples were prepared from four prostate cancer cell lines then analyzed on-chip. A key advantage of this approach is the ability to generate samples ready for on-chip analysis directly from crude cell lysates without having to change sample preparation protocols. Cell lysates were hybridized with the detection probes in the same manner as the total RNA samples; the only modification was an increase in time allowed for the magnetic capture of bead-RNA complexes before the wash steps to compensate for the increased sample viscosity. The electropherograms in Figure 2.5 demonstrate successful detection of prostate cancer genes expressed in the cell lines LNCaP, VCap, 22Rv1 and PC-3, highlighting the ability of the microdevice to perform sensitive gene expression analysis from cells without amplification. In order to detect genes expressed at low levels, the expression patterns shown were obtained with 30,000-40,000 cells; however, cell lines were generally identifiable with less than 20,000 cells in the sample. In addition, the direct use of cell lysates in the assay allowed rapid and simple sample preparation by obviating the need for lengthy RNA purification procedures.



**Figure 2.5**. On-chip analysis of cell lysate samples showing expression patterns for the prostate cancer cell lines LNCaP, VCaP, 22Rv1 and PC-3. Samples are prepared with 30,000 - 40,000 cells. Genes expressed in the cells are identified by the fluorescent label and mobility of their corresponding detection probes. Control (Ctl) peak from an in-vitro transcribed (IVT) RNA serves as an internal standard. Patterns obtained match expected expression of target genes and reflect well-established differences in androgen sensitivity among the cell lines.

Prostate cancer genes expressed in the cell lines were identified on the CE trace based on migration time. The addition of an in-vitro transcribed (IVT) RNA of the rat glutamate receptor (Gria4) gene, used as an internal standard, enabled the quantitative analysis of expression of individual transcripts in the cell lines. IVT RNA is a better internal control than GAPDH, as the expression levels of GAPDH are highly variable, even among cell lines [115,116]. Peaks for the detected probes were first normalized to the standard peak then quantified based on the number of molecules of IVT RNA present in the sample hybridization. Because peak shape and width showed variation between runs, peak areas were used for accurate quantification of probes. Assuming perfect hybridization and capture efficiency, an absolute measure of expression levels for the prostate cancer cell lines LNCaP, VCaP, 22Rv1 and PC-3 are quantitatively compared in Figure 2.6. A comparison of absolute expression between different genes would also be possible after further quantification of the sequence-dependent hybridization efficiencies of the probes used in the TRAC assay.

This analysis allowed the identification of repeatable and recognizable expression fingerprints of the prostate cancer cell lines that matched expression information available on GeneSapiens. While that database and others corroborate the relative expression of the selected genes, this study is the first to quantify them in copy number/cell across these four established cell lines. As shown in Figure 2.6, the results demonstrate differences in the expression of the androgen receptor (AR), which reflect the well-established differences in androgen sensitivity and dependence among the cell lines analyzed. The cell line PC-3, a model for androgen insensitive tumors, does not express the androgen receptor, while AR insensitive 22Rv1 expresses it in low copy numbers [117]. VCaP cells, also originated from a hormone-refractory tumor [118] express AR [119], while LNCaP cells, which have been shown to be androgen responsive but not androgen dependent [120] express AR in very small quantities. Expression of the androgen receptor is significant in the study of prostate cancer, as it plays a well-established role in the prostate epithelium and is a key therapeutic target in cases of advanced and metastatic disease [121].



**Figure 2.6**: Expression patterns for prostate cancer cell lines determined by on-chip analysis. The number of copies of prostate cancer genes is quantified by normalizing to an in-vitro transcribed (IVT) RNA of known concentration. The androgen- responsive LNCaP and VCaP cell lines express high levels of PSA and KLK2, as well as the prostate specific genes ERG and STEAP. 22Rv1 cells express low copy numbers of those genes but high levels of the SPINK1 gene. PC-3 cells are characterized by high copy numbers of UPA and KRT19.

Androgens also affect the expression of other genes, as they regulate prostatic epithelia cell function, including the secretion of prostate specific proteins such as prostate specific antigen (PSA) [122]. PSA expression was observed to be highest in cell lines VCaP and LNCaP and low in 22Rv1 [123]. VCaP and LNCaP also showed high expression of sixtransmembrane epithelial antigen of the prostate (STEAP), a hormone-independent prostate specific gene highly expressed in advanced prostate cancer, that in previous studies had been detected in LNCaP with a high copy number and in PC-3 at lower levels of RNA expression [124]. In addition, the VCaP cell line was characterized by the significant expression of the transcription factor ERG, which is overexpressed in clinical prostate cancer [125] and has recently been implicated in a gene fusion observed in subset of androgen-dependent prostate cancer [126]. In contrast, the cell line 22Rv1 showed lower copy number of PSA and kallikrein-2 (KLK2), both AR-regulated genes, than VCaP and LNCaP, as expected [123]. 22Rv1 cells were also distinguishable by the presence of the serine protease inhibitor (SPINK1) gene, whose increased expression has been determined to be a significant predictor of prostate cancer [127], and which has been used as a biomarker for urine-based diagnostic tests [128]. Although it has been proposed as a marker for discerning prostate from urothelial carcinomas [129], expression of cytokeratin-20 (KRT20) was not observed in any of the cell lines studied.

The PC-3 cell line is known for its reduced expression of common prostate cancer biomarkers such as AR and PSA. As already indicated by the total RNA analysis, cytokeratin-19 (KRT19), a gene whose involvement in neoplastic progression of human prostate epithelial cells is well-established [130], and urokinase-type plasminogen activator (UPA), a serine protease secreted by prostatic epithelium that plays a role in tumor invasiveness of hormone-dependent malignancies [131], are the targets expressed in highest copy numbers in these cells. The observed high expression of UPA also supports the previous finding that PC-3 cells secrete high levels of UPA while prostate cells with lower metastatic potential such as LNCaP do not [132]. However, the analysis of PC-3 cells also revealed expression of PSA and KLK2 which was not observed in the total RNA analysis of the same cell line and in copy numbers higher than expected for this androgen-independent cell line. This difference is explained by the often-noted biological variation among batches of cells of the same line. In particular, it has been established that androgen-sensitive expression of prostate epithelial cells is strongly affected by cell culture conditions such as medium and cell density [133]. Nevertheless, these results demonstrate the ability of the assay and microdevice system to generate consistent gene expression fingerprints from cell samples with high sensitivity, opening the door to other applications such as the identification of tumor cell expression signatures that can be used to predict clinical outcome of prostate cancer [89].

## **2.5 Conclusions**

We have demonstrated a robust assay and integrated microdevice for multiplex gene expression analysis. The photopolymerized oligonucleotide-modified capture gel plug enables the concentration of multiple detection probes for high sensitivity and efficient injection. The method enables analysis of both RNA and cell lysate samples without RNA purification, reverse transcription or PCR amplification. The excellent separation efficiency indicates the microdevice is well-suited for performing high order multiplex analysis. This microdevice and assay system is a versatile platform for highly sensitive and quantitative transcript analysis and can be extended to other applications such as testing tumor samples and monitoring expression fingerprints for diagnostic purposes.

## 2.6 Acknowledgements

Microfabrication was performed at the University of California Berkeley Microfabrication Laboratory. We thank Dr. Kristiina Iljin for the detection probe sequences and Dr. Juha Kotimaa for providing the IVT RNA. We also thank Dr. Hans Soderlund, Dr. Harri Siitari, Dr. Lotta Amundson, Dr. Jari Rautio and Dr. David Duberow for valuable discussions. Funding for this work was provided by the Technical Research Centre of Finland (VTT).

# **Chapter 3**

Prospects

## **3.1 Introduction**

The previous chapters have established the feasibility of performing gene expression analysis on an integrated microfluidic platform to achieve rapid and multiplexed mRNA detection with high sensitivity. The applicability of the method and microdevice system to the quantitative detection of cancer biomarkers was further validated by the identification of cancer expression signatures. In this final chapter, I discuss the prospects for future applications of this system in the clinical setting. Major concerns of point-of-care diagnostic systems include reducing sample requirements as well as decreasing costs and analysis time. To address these issues, I propose integrated devices capable of PCR amplification and onchip nanoliter scale sample processing, coupled with quantitative sample injection and separation by CE. In addition, these microfluidic bioprocessors are scalable to multichannel microdevices for high-throughput analysis. By taking full advantage of recent advancements in microfabrication techniques in the areas of on-chip thermal cycling, low-volume fluid manipulation and capture gel photopolymerization, these integrated microsystems will eliminate the inefficient sample manipulation currently required for analysis and enable the rapid and facile detection of comprehensive cancer expression profiles from complex clinical samples.

### **3.2 Increasing Sensitivity for Analysis of Clinical Samples**

Most gene expression methods rely on sample amplification by PCR for sensitive detection. For example, analysis by microarray often includes one or two amplification steps to reduce the amount of sample required. However, as discussed in Chapter 1, amplification of the sample has several drawbacks, including biasing of the transcription profile. The results presented in Chapter 2 demonstrated that sensitive detection of expression patterns can be accomplished without PCR amplification by using the TRAC method in conjunction with the integrated capture-CE microdevice. The lack of amplification was a valuable advantage as it enabled the absolute quantification of transcript levels. However, the analysis of most clinical samples requires even higher sensitivity detection. In particular, in order for the microdevice to be useful as a diagnostic test, it must be able to generate results from a small number of cells to minimize the invasiveness of the sample collection procedure. For example, non-invasive detection of prostate cancer is possible by analyzing prostate cells that are shed into urine [128]. However, while these urine-based diagnostic assays are preferable over painful biopsies, their adoption is limited by the challenge of obtaining an accurate measure of expression from the few cells present in the sample. Because of the heterogeneous nature of tumors, the detection of metastatic cells would likewise be facilitated by more sensitive methods of gene expression analysis.

To increase the sensitivity of expression analysis by TRAC while maintaining the ability to quantify gene transcripts, the isolated detection probes obtained by TRAC hybridization can be used as the template for PCR instead of amplifying the original sample. Using this approach, hybridization with the detection probes is still performed on cells directly, followed by bead immobilization of mRNA-probe complexes. However, after elution from the beads, the probes are amplified by PCR rather than analyzed directly. A small number of amplification cycles is performed in order to maintain linear response. Because the released detection probes accurately reflect the transcript levels present in the initial sample, using them as the template for the amplification reaction yields an accurate interpretation of the expression profile. Kataja et al. previously demonstrated the feasibility of this approach by performing 16 cycles of PCR amplification on TRAC hybridized and eluted probes prior to injection on a commercial genetic analyzer [104]. Results of those experiments showed a 20-fold increase in the sensitivity of the assay while maintaining the stoichiometric ratios between the probes. The method further benefits from the fact that the detection probes already include a universal sequence for affinity capture. This permits the use of a common pair of primers to perform robust multiplex PCR, resulting in highly reproducible amplification [134]. With proper optimization of the PCR protocol, the amplification of the cancer detection probes will therefore enable sensitive and quantitative detection that is a superior alternative to RT-PCR of the target RNA sample. Kataja et al. reported limits of detection of 0.5 ng of mRNA or roughly 500 cells [104]. By using this method on a microfluidic device capable of efficient injection, the cellular limits can be further reduced. For example, using PCR amplification integrated with affinity capture, Toriello et al. demonstrated gene expression measurements at the single cell level [135].

Because PCR amplification is extremely temperature sensitive, high-precision control of the reaction temperature during thermal cycling is necessary. In particular, deviation from the melting temperature of the primers or the optimum temperature of the DNA polymerase strongly affects PCR performance. As a result, integrated microfabricated devices capable of PCR amplification must include necessary components for heating and cooling, as well as temperature sensing. These functions can be provided by instrumentation external to the microdevice itself. For example, the use of infrared (IR) radiation as a heating mechanism for performing PCR has been demonstrated by Easly et al. [136], and IR thermal cycling systems have been used for infectious disease detection [137]. However, because this technique requires an external source of focused radiation, the applicability of such microdevices outside the research setting is limited. In contrast, contact heating methods have been extensively pursued for portable microsystems. In particular, resistive thin film heaters benefit from a variety of fabrication methods and are well-suited for integration on microdevices. Thin-film heaters made of Ti/Pt [138], polysilicon [139], or transparent Indium Tin Oxide (ITO) [140] can be microfabricated to accommodate a variety of design constraints and applications. Resistive temperature detectors (RTD) can likewise be patterned directly onto the device for temperature monitoring, enabling the accurate temperature control required for high thermocycling performance.

The integration of the heating elements necessary for thermal cycling on the same device as the CE separation channel makes a compact analysis system possible. An example of a microfabricated PCR thermocycler is shown in Figure 3.1. Microfabrication of integrated heaters and RTDs on the surface of a monolithic glass substrate is straightforward and has been reported previously [138,141]. PCR heaters are made by patterning Ti/Pt elements on the backside of a wafer containing an etched PCR chamber. Gold electroplating is used to minimize heating of the heater contact pad and to ensure localized and uniform heating over the PCR reactor. Photolithographically patterned four-point RTDs are placed parallel to the PCR chamber to allow accurate monitoring of the temperature inside the reactor and to guide precise thermal cycling. By integrating heaters and RTDs on the same device, the overall thermal transfer from the heating elements to the PCR chamber is improved. For instance, the first PCR microdevice by Lagally et al. reported increased heating rates of 20 °C/s [141]. In addition to reducing the amount of time necessary for completing the amplification cycle, this fast thermal response time facilitates highly efficient and balanced amplification of the sample.

The first integrated sequencing device by Blazej et al. showcased the complete integration of PCR amplification, product purification, and separation [142]. By performing thermal cycling for multiplexed Sanger extension in a 200 nL reactor, the microdevice was able to produce over 500 base reads from only 1 femtomole of DNA template. More recent work improved the injection efficiency of the thermally cycled products by utilizing the inline affinity capture method, thus enabling sequencing from only 100 attomoles of template [70]. These results are promising for the similar microdevice proposed here: first, the eluted TRAC detection probes are loaded into the PCR chamber along with PCR reagents for thermal cycling. After amplification, the extension products are pumped into a hold chamber. An electric field is then applied to drive the amplified probes through a photopolymerized gel plug functionalized with an oligonucleotide capture probe. As the sample is electrophoresed through the capture matrix, the detection probes are immobilized using a common capture sequence while primers, buffer and unincorporated dNTPs from the PCR reaction are washed away. By combining the amplification of purified TRAC probes with a highly efficient and quantitative injection into the separation channel, this microdevice will enable the identification and quantification of gene expression levels with high sensitivity. In addition, the rapid low-volume thermal cycling and integrated electrophoretic separation will enable fast analysis of samples. Based on the results of previously published integrated PCR-CE microdevices, the proposed microdevice is expected to complete expression analysis in 1.5 h with a detection limit of as low as 20 copies [143]. This is superior to current methods of transcriptional analysis and would facilitate the detection of expression fingerprints from clinical samples containing only a few cells, expanding the applicability of the microdevice to a wider range of clinical samples and enhancing its potential as a point-of-care diagnostic assay for cancer detection.



**Figure 3.1**. A microfabricated PCR thermocycler. A heater with Ti/Pt heating elements and gold contact pad is patterned on the backside of a glass wafer for uniform heating of an etched PCR reactor. A four-point Ti/Pt patterned RTD enables accurate monitoring of the temperature inside the PCR chamber. The integration of microfabricated heating elements on the same device enables rapid thermal cycling for efficient sample amplification.

## **3.3 Fully Integrated Cancer Detection for Point-of-Care Testing**

While the PCR-capture-CE microdevice proposed above will be capable of highly sensitive and multiplexed gene expression analysis benefiting a variety of applications, significant off-chip sample preparation remains necessary prior to analysis on-chip. The final step in achieving the goal of fully integrated analysis is to supplement the microdevice with the capability to perform all the necessary sample preparation steps. Gene expression analysis by the TRAC method offers the advantage that cell lysates can be used directly. The straightforward sample preparation protocol simply requires solution hybridization of components, followed by bead affinity capture. Microfabricated components for mixing, pumping, and microparticle manipulations developed in the Mathies group are utilized to integrate these functions with on-chip separation and analysis. By including these processing steps at the front-end of the microdevice, the macro-micro interface problem is eliminated and the efficiency of the analysis is enhanced. The fully integrated device proposed here will be able to perform complete analysis of gene expression from a raw cellular sample for a truly sample in-answer out point-of-care diagnostic.

One of the challenges facing the proposed microdevice is the seamless integration of several analytical steps. This includes physically separating each functional unit of the fully integrated system while maintaining the ability to transport reagents across components and minimizing sample loss and dilution [50]. The integration of microfabricated valves plays a key role in accomplishing this goal. Microvalves can be categorized by their mechanism of operation: active mechanical valves include electromagnetic [144], piezoelectric [145], and pneumatic [146,147] varieties, while passive mechanical valves typically consist of check valves [148]. Non-mechanical valves can be active, usually by utilizing a phase change material [149], or passive such as hydrophobic [150] and gel valves [151]. Selecting the appropriate microvalve must take into consideration ease of fabrication, as well as the physical properties of the valve such as pressure resistance and dead volume which dictate the volumes that can be handled by the device. Two types of microvalves will be used in the proposed fully integrated microdevice. First, a passive valve composed of a viscous gel matrix between the PCR chamber and the separation channel will be used to prevent contamination of the PCR reactor by coating and photopolymerization reagents, as well as to avoid leaking from the reactor during thermal cycling [77]. In addition, the new microdevice will include pneumatic microvalves to efficiently move solutions between different components. Such microvalves have been extensively employed in integrated microsystems, where their superior abilities in manipulating nanoliter-quantities of solution are wellestablished [152]. Their integration on this microdevice will enhance the transport efficiency of the sample and reagents during sample processing and analysis.

The design of the microvalves used is critical for their large-scale integration into the glass microsystem as well as for easing limitations on sample processing. In particular, the microvalves selected must be suitable for the analysis of biological molecules, and consequently, the materials used in fabrication must prevent diffusion and adsorption that would lead to contamination of the microdevice components. The monolithic elastomer membrane valves developed in the Mathies group address this concern [153]. These microvalves are formed by bonding a featureless polymer membrane between two patterned glass wafers; one of the glass wafers features a discontinuous channel structure while a displacement chamber is etched into the other. As shown in Figure 3.2, each valve consists

of a displacement chamber which extends over a gap in the channel. When the valve is at rest, a thin PDMS membrane between the glass layers isolates the chamber from the fluidic channel and the flow is interrupted. The valve is operated pneumatically: when a vacuum is applied to the displacement chamber, the membrane deflects away from the discontinuity, allowing the valve to fill and permitting fluid flow. These robust valves seal reliably even against high fluid pressures [154], making them ideal for restricting sample flow and compartmentalizing reagents on the integrated microdevice.

The functionality of the microvalves can further be expanded by arranging three valves in series to form a self-priming pump. On the integrated microdevice, these micropumps are used to pump sample, deliver reagents, and transport solutions between various compartments of the microchip in an automated fashion. The volume of solution pumped is a function of the valve dimensions and the flow rate, and can be adjusted by tuning the actuation time [153]. In previous studies, this micropump approach has enabled pumping of volumes ranging from nanoliters to a few microliters, and has demonstrated rates of up to 100 nL/s. Because the contents of a single microvalve can be transferred in a discrete manner through a series of microvalves, automated sample processing is also made possible [155]. This use of microvalves has already benefited several applications, including integrated DNA sequencing [142], pathogen detection [156], and single cell genetic analysis [157], and will similarly enable sophisticated washing and dilutions protocols necessary for performing TRAC sample preparation on the fully integrated microdevice.



**Figure 3.2**. Microfabricated valves for fluid isolation and pumping. Each valve consists of a discontinuity in the fluidic channel which is bridged by a displacement chamber. A thin PDMS membrane interrupts the fluidic flow when the valve is at rest. The valve is activated by applying a vacuum to deflect the membrane and allow flow in the channel. A microfluidic pump is generated by activating three valves in series and can be used to move a discrete volume of sample.

Due to the laminar flow profiles characteristic of microfluidic systems, active control of mixing will be necessary for combining reagents on-chip. In particular, a microvalve strategy for mixing will also be employed for the hybridization of magnetic beads with the sample. Pumping fluids through a circular channel path is a common method for active mixing [158], and mixing loop structures have previously been used for performing serial operations [159]. Grover et al. illustrated the synergistic potential of microvalves for sample clean-up by trapping functionalized magnetic beads in a microfluidic processor to capture complementary oligonucleotides from a recirculating concentrated DNA solution [160]. One of the advantages of this method is that it allows large sample volumes to be manipulated on-chip using microfluidic pumps. In addition, targets are concentrated and purified simply by passing the sample solution over the beads. Beyor et al. later simplified the technique by eliminating the need for recirculation, instead leveraging the pulsatile flow of the microfluidic pumps by incorporating rapid 'flutter' steps followed by a standard 3-step pumping cycle to force the sample solution through the beads multiple times [61]. This method is well-suited for integration in the proposed microsytem because it will facilitate the manipulation of beads for specific capture of mRNA-detection probes from a complex cellular background in addition to immobilization for downstream genetic analysis.

By integrating the sample and bead manipulation necessary for performing the TRAC protocol with PCR amplification and post-PCR capture inline injection, the proposed fully integrated microdevice shown in Figure 3.3 will be able to perform complete gene expression analysis. Magnetic beads are pumped into the microdevice and immobilized using an external magnet to create a localized capture region on the microdevice. The cell lysate sample is pumped into the device and mixed with a pool of fluorescently labeled detection probes and buffer by alternating inputs using a bus valve. The probes are specifically hybridized with the target mRNA in the sample by heating the hybridization chamber, after which the solution is driven through the fluidized bed of magnetic beads using pneumatic microvalve pumping. The oligo(dT)-coated beads capture the mRNA-probe hybrids, and the bead solution is then manipulated hydrodynamically to perform stringency wash steps. An external magnet is used to immobilize the beads while cell debris and excess probes flow out to the waste well. The detection probes are subsequently released in deionized water by heating and the eluate is pumped into the PCR chamber. The PCR reagents are loaded into the capture well and pumped into the PCR reactor to combine with the template for amplification, as previously demonstrated by Liu et al. After thermal cycling, the amplified double-stranded probes are electrophoretically driven through an oligonucleotide-modified capture gel where they are bound and concentrated into a narrow plug prior to injection into the separation channel for CE and detection as previously demonstrated. Because all the analytical steps are performed on a single device, transfer losses are minimized and the results of the analysis are highly quantitative. As a result, this compact microdevice will enable sensitive analysis from a complex sample on a portable and automated platform, decreasing both time and costs required for analysis, and could therefore benefit cancer detection for point-of-care testing applications.



**Figure 3.3**. Fully integrated microdevice for gene expression analysis. A raw cell lysate sample is pumped into the microdevice and hybridized with a pool of fluorescently labeled detection probes. A fluidized bed of oligo(dT)-coated magnetic beads is used to capture the resulting mRNA-probe hybrids, and excess probes and cellular debris are washed away. After release from the beads, the detection probes are transferred to the PCR reactor for amplification. The amplified probes are then driven electrophoretically into an oligonucleotide-modified photopolymerized capture gel for clean-up and concentration, enabling efficient injection into the CE channel for high-performance separation and detection.

## 3.4 High-Throughput Analysis Systems

While the extensive integration enabled by the microdevice discussed above already shortens the analysis time considerably, the ability to analyze several samples in one run by increasing the throughput of the microdevice would also facilitate this goal significantly. High throughput devices decrease the overall cost of analysis by handling several samples simultaneously as well as by utilizing less sample and reagents. In addition, increased parallelism is valuable in that it makes maintaining consistent experimental variables across several samples possible. This is especially important for comparing results obtained from analysis of different samples. In particular, samples extracted from suspected tumors are often compared with a "normal" control. By including more than one analysis system on the microdevice, gene expression patterns from two different tissues can easily be contrasted for rapid detection of abnormality.

High throughput CE arrays have previously been demonstrated for several applications. A 96-lane capillary microdevice was developed by Paegel et al. in 2002 to perform highly parallelized sequencing [58]. The device featured 48 doublet structures, arranged radially on a 150-mm glass wafer, each consisting of two electrophoretic separation channels with independent sample reservoirs and common cathode and waste wells. Multichannel microdevices for forensic applications have also been reported. These devices contain arrayed microfluidic genetic analyzers that integrate all the functions needed for STR analysis, including PCR reactors with microfabricated RTDs and heaters for thermal cycling, coupled with inline injectors and capillary electrophoresis channels [138]. However, the number of lanes attainable on one microdevice has thus far been limited to 4. Aside from practical limits on the dimensions of the substrate wafer, the main obstacle to increasing this number is the length of time required to prepare the microdevice for analysis.

The photopolymerization of the capture gel matrix plays a critical role in achieving high-performance analysis on-chip by enabling a highly efficient injection that results in increased sensitivity of detection and improved resolution of the separation. However, the exposure system used for the photopolymerization process has thus far limited its applicability to a few channels. In the experiments previously described, photopolymerized gels plugs were created by aligning the polymer solution-filled channel with a photomask and exposing it to UV light supplied by a Mercury arc lamp installed on a microscope. Using this method, the exposure time required for complete polymerization was 5-10 min per plug. Because each channel had to be irradiated individually, exposing a 96-lane device would require an impractical amount of time. In order to allow high-throughput microdevices to achieve their potential for parallel analysis, new methods are needed that will remove this limiting step by allowing the formation of the capture plugs more rapidly.

To address this problem, a UV exposure system for rapid and automated photopolymerized gel plug formation is proposed. The instrument utilizes a 375 nm diode laser to photoinitiate polymerization in each channel of the microchip in a stepwise manner (Figure 3.4). First, a system of high precision motorized linear stages aligns a channel of the microdevice with the focused laser beam. Then, the laser beam spot is used to form a gel plug inside the channel. The spot is shaped by first expanding the beam and imaging a rectangular variable slit, followed by focusing using a pair of cylindrical lenses to obtain a uniform rectangular spot. After polymerization is initiated, the laser shutter blocks the beam, and the stage moves to align the laser with the adjacent channel in order to form the next gel. The motion of the stages is fully controlled by a custom program that outputs coordinates for the correct gel plug locations based on the geometry of the microdevice. As a result, after initial loading of the monomer solution, all the gel plugs necessary for a multi-channel microdevice with integrated affinity capture are formed in an automated manner.

This new method for generating high resolution photopolymerized gel plugs offers several advantages. First, the generation of capture plugs is rapid and fully automated. The high precision axis system reduces polymerization time by allowing simultaneous and coordinated motion of axes as well as specification of move parameters such as velocity and acceleration. Additionally, the use of a laser as the power source generates a small spot with high power density at the wavelength useful for polymerization. Because the laser power is easily tuned, different monomers and photoinitators can be employed for a variety of applications. Finally, the instrument permits the generation of a range of plug sizes. In contrast to flood exposure through a mask which limits the feature size due to light diffraction at the edge of opaque features, polymerized regions defined by a laser beam can be much smaller. Capture plugs can also be formed by direct write lithography by moving the focused 5 µm beam to form gels in a variety of shapes and sizes. Preliminary experiments with this instrument have enabled the production of 150-µm gel plugs, and this size can be further reduced by optimization of the polymerization variables. For example, laser patterning of 50-µm gel membranes has been previously reported by Song et al. using a similar technique [161]. The ability to generate short gel plugs is extremely valuable for high performance on-chip separations since resolution is directly related to the injected plug size. Based on the instrument's promising results in producing small capture gels in a rapid and automated manner, it is expected to play a valuable role in implementing arrays of highquality integrated capture-CE microanalyzers for high-throughput analysis of samples.



**Figure 3.4**. High-throughput automated capture gel formation. (A) The beam from a 375 nm UV laser is expanded, shaped and focused for initiating polymerization inside a microdevice. A system of high precision stages is used to control the alignment of the channels with the beam. (B) A 150  $\mu$ m photopolymerized capture gel plug generated by the instrument. (C) This approach enables high-resolution patterning by direct-write lithography.

## **3.5 Conclusions**

Cancer research significantly benefits from the ability to probe gene expression with high sensitivity. Because of the heterogeneous nature of tumors, multiplex transcript analysis is well-positioned to shed light on the extensive pathways that characterize progression of the disease. In particular, the identification of comprehensive expression patterns involved in pathogenesis can be used for efficient cancer detection. The novel microdevices presented here expand the potential of microfabricated CE devices as a platform for expression-based assays by facilitating high-sensitivity and quantitative transcript analysis from a complex sample. The seamless integration of temperature sensors and integrated heaters for PCR amplification, pneumatic PDMS valve structures for robust fluidic containment and pumping, and gel capture matrices for sample purification and concentration, enable a fully integrated microdevice with all the functionality necessary for a truly "sample in-answer out" point-of-care diagnostic. By virtue of reduced sample and reagent consumption as well as shortened analysis time, this versatile assay platform is promising as an affordable diagnostic tool for widespread use in the clinical setting, and could play an important role in reducing cancer mortality by facilitating early detection.

## References

- [1] American Cancer Society, 2010, Cancer Facts & Figures: 2010, American Cancer Society, Atlanta, GA.
- [2] National Institutes of Health, 2011, "NIH Research Portfolio Online Reporting Tools (RePORT) - Estimates of Funding for Various Research, Condition, and Disease Categories (RCDC)."
- [3] Haggard H. W., and Smith G. M., 1938, "Johannes Müller and the Modern Conception of Cancer," Yale J Biol Med, **10**(5), pp. 419.b1-436.
- [4] Boveri T., 2008, "Concerning the origin of malignant tumours by Theodor Boveri. Translated and annotated by Henry Harris," J. Cell. Sci, **121 Suppl 1**, pp. 1-84.
- [5] Saiki R. K., Gelfand D. H., Stoffel S., Scharf S. J., Higuchi R., Horn G. T., Mullis K. B., and Erlich H. A., 1988, "Primer-directed enzymatic amplification of DNA with a thermostable DNA polymerase," Science, 239(4839), pp. 487-491.
- [6] Jackson D. A., Symons R. H., and Berg P., 1972, "Biochemical method for inserting new genetic information into DNA of Simian Virus 40: circular SV40 DNA molecules containing lambda phage genes and the galactose operon of Escherichia coli," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A, 69(10), pp. 2904-2909.
- [7] Sanger F., Nicklen S., and Coulson A. R., 1977, "DNA sequencing with chainterminating inhibitors," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A, **74**(12), pp. 5463-5467.
- [8] Downward J., 2003, "Targeting RAS signalling pathways in cancer therapy," Nat. Rev. Cancer, **3**(1), pp. 11-22.
- [9] Mendelsohn J., and Baselga J., 2000, "The EGF receptor family as targets for cancer therapy," Oncogene, **19**(56), pp. 6550-6565.
- [10] Ponder B., 1997, "Genetic Testing for Cancer Risk," Science, 278(5340), pp. 1050 -1054.
- [11] Overdevest J. B., Theodorescu D., and Lee J. K., 2009, "Utilizing the Molecular Gateway: The Path to Personalized Cancer Management," Clin Chem, 55(4), pp. 684-697.
- [12] Sherr C. J., and McCormick F., 2002, "The RB and p53 pathways in cancer," Cancer Cell, 2(2), pp. 103-112.

- [13] King M., Marks J. H., and Mandell J. B., 2003, "Breast and ovarian cancer risks due to inherited mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2," Science, **302**(5645), pp. 643-646.
- Botkin J. R., Smith K. R., Croyle R. T., Baty B. J., Wylie J. E., Dutson D., Chan A., Hamann H. A., Lerman C., McDonald J., Venne V., Ward J. H., and Lyon E., 2003, "Genetic testing for a BRCA1 mutation: prophylactic surgery and screening behavior in women 2 years post testing," Am. J. Med. Genet. A, **118A**(3), pp. 201-209.
- [15] Lundwall A., 1989, "Characterization of the gene for prostate-specific antigen, a human glandular kallikrein," Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun, 161(3), pp. 1151-1159.
- [16] Bussemakers M. J., van Bokhoven A., Verhaegh G. W., Smit F. P., Karthaus H. F., Schalken J. A., Debruyne F. M., Ru N., and Isaacs W. B., 1999, "DD3: a new prostate-specific gene, highly overexpressed in prostate cancer," Cancer Res, 59(23), pp. 5975-5979.
- [17] Rubin M. A., Zhou M., Dhanasekaran S. M., Varambally S., Barrette T. R., Sanda M. G., Pienta K. J., Ghosh D., and Chinnaiyan A. M., 2002, "α-Methylacyl Coenzyme A Racemase as a Tissue Biomarker for Prostate Cancer," JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association, 287(13), pp. 1662 -1670.
- [18] Catalona W. J., Smith D. S., Ratliff T. L., Dodds K. M., Coplen D. E., Yuan J. J., Petros J. A., and Andriole G. L., 1991, "Measurement of prostate-specific antigen in serum as a screening test for prostate cancer," N. Engl. J. Med, **324**(17), pp. 1156-1161.
- [19] Nelson P. S., 2004, "Predicting Prostate Cancer Behavior Using Transcript Profiles," The Journal of Urology, **172**(5), pp. S28-S33.
- [20] Ramaswamy S., Tamayo P., Rifkin R., Mukherjee S., Yeang C., Angelo M., Ladd C., Reich M., Latulippe E., Mesirov J. P., Poggio T., Gerald W., Loda M., Lander E. S., and Golub T. R., 2001, "Multiclass cancer diagnosis using tumor gene expression signatures," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 98(26), pp. 15149 -15154.
- [21] Gilbert W., 1986, "Origin of life: The RNA world," Nature, **319**(6055), p. 618.
- [22] Latham J., and Cech T., 1989, "Defining the inside and outside of a catalytic RNA molecule," Science, **245**(4915), pp. 276 -282.
- [23] Petricoin III E. F., Ardekani A. M., Hitt B. A., Levine P. J., Fusaro V. A., Steinberg S. M., Mills G. B., Simone C., Fishman D. A., Kohn E. C., and Liotta L. A., 2002, "Use of proteomic patterns in serum to identify ovarian cancer," The Lancet, **359**(9306), pp. 572-577.

- [24] Wulfkuhle J. D., Liotta L. A., and Petricoin E. F., 2003, "Proteomic applications for the early detection of cancer," Nat Rev Cancer, **3**(4), pp. 267-275.
- [25] Alwine J. C., Kemp D. J., and Stark G. R., 1977, "Method for detection of specific RNAs in agarose gels by transfer to diazobenzyloxymethyl-paper and hybridization with DNA probes.," Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 74(12), pp. 5350-5354.
- [26] Streit S., Michalski C. W., Erkan M., Kleeff J., and Friess H., 2009, "Northern blot analysis for detection and quantification of RNA in pancreatic cancer cells and tissues," Nat Protoc, 4(1), pp. 37-43.
- [27] Schlamp K., Weinmann A., Krupp M., Maass T., Galle P., and Teufel A., 2008, "BlotBase: A northern blot database," Gene, 427(1-2), pp. 47-50.
- [28] Kulesh D. A., Clive D. R., Zarlenga D. S., and Greene J. J., 1987, "Identification of interferon-modulated proliferation-related cDNA sequences," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A, 84(23), pp. 8453-8457.
- [29] Fodor S., Read J., Pirrung M., Stryer L., Lu A., and Solas D., 1991, "Light-directed, spatially addressable parallel chemical synthesis," Science, **251**(4995), pp. 767-773.
- [30] Fan J., Gunderson K. L., Bibikova M., Yeakley J. M., Chen J., Wickham Garcia E., Lebruska L. L., Laurent M., Shen R., and Barker D., 2006, "[3] Illumina Universal Bead Arrays," DNA Microarrays, Part A: Array Platforms and Wet-Bench Protocols, Academic Press, pp. 57-73.
- [31] Pease A. C., Solas D., Sullivan E. J., Cronin M. T., Holmes C. P., and Fodor S. P., 1994, "Light-generated oligonucleotide arrays for rapid DNA sequence analysis," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 91(11), pp. 5022 -5026.
- [32] Schena M., Shalon D., Davis R. W., and Brown P. O., 1995, "Quantitative Monitoring of Gene Expression Patterns with a Complementary DNA Microarray," Science, 270(5235), pp. 467 -470.
- [33] Sgroi D. C., Teng S., Robinson G., LeVangie R., Hudson J. R., and Elkahloun A. G., 1999, "In Vivo Gene Expression Profile Analysis of Human Breast Cancer Progression," Cancer Research, 59(22), pp. 5656 -5661.
- [34] Sørlie T., Perou C. M., Tibshirani R., Aas T., Geisler S., Johnsen H., Hastie T., Eisen M. B., van de Rijn M., Jeffrey S. S., Thorsen T., Quist H., Matese J. C., Brown P. O., Botstein D., Lønning P. E., and Børresen-Dale A., 2001, "Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, **98**(19), pp. 10869 -10874.
- [35] Schaner M. E., Ross D. T., Ciaravino G., Sorlie T., Troyanskaya O., Diehn M., Wang Y. C., Duran G. E., Sikic T. L., Caldeira S., Skomedal H., Tu I., Hernandez-Boussard

T., Johnson S. W., O'Dwyer P. J., Fero M. J., Kristensen G. B., Borresen-Dale A., Hastie T., Tibshirani R., van de Rijn M., Teng N. N., Longacre T. A., Botstein D., Brown P. O., and Sikic B. I., 2003, "Gene Expression Patterns in Ovarian Carcinomas," Mol. Biol. Cell, **14**(11), pp. 4376-4386.

- [36] Bhattacharjee A., Richards W. G., Staunton J., Li C., Monti S., Vasa P., Ladd C., Beheshti J., Bueno R., Gillette M., Loda M., Weber G., Mark E. J., Lander E. S., Wong W., Johnson B. E., Golub T. R., Sugarbaker D. J., and Meyerson M., 2001, "Classification of human lung carcinomas by mRNA expression profiling reveals distinct adenocarcinoma subclasses," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, **98**(24), pp. 13790 -13795.
- [37] Singh D., Febbo P. G., Ross K., Jackson D. G., Manola J., Ladd C., Tamayo P., Renshaw A. A., D'Amico A. V., Richie J. P., Lander E. S., Loda M., Kantoff P. W., Golub T. R., and Sellers W. R., 2002, "Gene expression correlates of clinical prostate cancer behavior," Cancer Cell, 1(2), pp. 203-209.
- [38] Lausted C., Dahl T., Warren C., King K., Smith K., Johnson M., Saleem R., Aitchison J., Hood L., and Lasky S. R., 2004, "POSaM: a fast, flexible, open-source, inkjet oligonucleotide synthesizer and microarrayer," Genome Biol, 5(8), p. R58.
- [39] Nuwaysir E. F., Huang W., Albert T. J., Singh J., Nuwaysir K., Pitas A., Richmond T., Gorski T., Berg J. P., Ballin J., McCormick M., Norton J., Pollock T., Sumwalt T., Butcher L., Porter D., Molla M., Hall C., Blattner F., Sussman M. R., Wallace R. L., Cerrina F., and Green R. D., 2002, "Gene Expression Analysis Using Oligonucleotide Arrays Produced by Maskless Photolithography," Genome Research, 12(11), pp. 1749 -1755.
- [40] Provvedi R., Palù G., and Manganelli R., 2009, "Use of DNA microarrays to study global patterns of gene expression," Methods Mol. Biol, **465**, pp. 95-110.
- [41] Velculescu V. E., Zhang L., Vogelstein B., and Kinzler K. W., 1995, "Serial analysis of gene expression," Science, **270**(5235), pp. 484-487.
- [42] Livak K. J., Flood S. J., Marmaro J., Giusti W., and Deetz K., 1995,
   "Oligonucleotides with fluorescent dyes at opposite ends provide a quenched probe system useful for detecting PCR product and nucleic acid hybridization.," Genome Research, 4(6), pp. 357 -362.
- [43] Manz A., Graber N., and Widmer H., 1990, "Miniaturized total chemical analysis systems: A novel concept for chemical sensing," Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 1(1-6), pp. 244-248.
- [44] Manz A., Harrison D., Verpoorte E. M., Fettinger J., Paulus A., Lüdi H., and Widmer H., 1992, "Planar chips technology for miniaturization and integration of separation techniques into monitoring systems: Capillary electrophoresis on a chip," Journal of

Chromatography A, **593**(1-2), pp. 253-258.

- [45] McClain M. A., Culbertson C. T., Jacobson S. C., Allbritton N. L., Sims C. E., and Ramsey J. M., 2003, "Microfluidic Devices for the High-Throughput Chemical Analysis of Cells," Analytical Chemistry, 75(21), pp. 5646-5655.
- [46] Kobayashi J., Mori Y., Okamoto K., Akiyama R., Ueno M., Kitamori T., and Kobayashi S., 2004, "A Microfluidic Device for Conducting Gas-Liquid-Solid Hydrogenation Reactions," Science, **304**(5675), pp. 1305 -1308.
- [47] Marle L., and Greenway G. M., 2005, "Microfluidic devices for environmental monitoring," TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry, **24**(9), pp. 795-802.
- [48] Jensen K., 1998, "Chemical kinetics: Smaller, faster chemistry," Nature, **393**(6687), pp. 735-737.
- [49] Harrison D. J., Fluri K., Seiler K., Fan Z., Effenhauser C. S., and Manz A., 1993,
   "Micromachining a Miniaturized Capillary Electrophoresis-Based Chemical Analysis System on a Chip," Science, 261(5123), pp. 895-897.
- [50] Liu P., and Mathies R. A., 2009, "Integrated microfluidic systems for highperformance genetic analysis," Trends Biotechnol., **27**(10), pp. 572-581.
- [51] Panaro N. J., Yuen P. K., Sakazume T., Fortina P., Kricka L. J., and Wilding P., 2000, "Evaluation of DNA fragment sizing and quantification by the agilent 2100 bioanalyzer," Clin. Chem, 46(11), pp. 1851-1853.
- [52] Fiorini G. S., and Chiu D. T., 2005, "Disposable microfluidic devices: fabrication, function, and application," BioTechniques, **38**(3), pp. 429-446.
- [53] Kieleczawa J., 2005, DNA sequencing: optimizing the process and analysis, Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- [54] Jorgenson J. W., and Lukacs K. D., 1981, "Zone electrophoresis in open-tubular glass capillaries," Analytical Chemistry, **53**(8), pp. 1298-1302.
- [55] Koutny L., Schmalzing D., Salas-Solano O., El-Difrawy S., Adourian A., Buonocore S., Abbey K., McEwan P., Matsudaira P., and Ehrlich D., 2000, "Eight Hundred-Base Sequencing in a Microfabricated Electrophoretic Device," Analytical Chemistry, 72(14), pp. 3388-3391.
- [56] Paegel B. M., Hutt L. D., Simpson P. C., and Mathies R. A., 2000, "Turn geometry for minimizing band broadening in microfabricated capillary electrophoresis channels," Anal. Chem, 72(14), pp. 3030-3037.
- [57] Simpson P. C., Roach D., Woolley A. T., Thorsen T., Johnston R., Sensabaugh G. F.,

and Mathies R. A., 1998, "High-throughput genetic analysis using microfabricated 96-sample capillary array electrophoresis microplates," Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, **95**(5), pp. 2256-2261.

- [58] Paegel B. M., Emrich C. A., Wedemayer G. J., Scherer J. R., and Mathies R. A., 2002, "High throughput DNA sequencing with a microfabricated 96-lane capillary array electrophoresis bioprocessor," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 99(2), pp. 574-579.
- [59] Emrich C. A., Tian H., Medintz I. L., and Mathies R. A., 2002, "Microfabricated 384-Lane Capillary Array Electrophoresis Bioanalyzer for Ultrahigh-Throughput Genetic Analysis," Analytical Chemistry, 74(19), pp. 5076-5083.
- [60] Woolley A. T., Hadley D., Landre P., deMello A. J., Mathies R. A., and Northrup M. A., 1996, "Functional Integration of PCR Amplification and Capillary Electrophoresis in a Microfabricated DNA Analysis Device," Analytical Chemistry, 68(23), pp. 4081-4086.
- [61] Beyor N., Seo T. S., Liu P., and Mathies R. A., 2008, "Immunomagnetic bead-based cell concentration microdevice for dilute pathogen detection," Biomed Microdevices, 10(6), pp. 909-917.
- [62] Liu P., Yeung S., Crenshaw K., Crouse C., Scherer J., and Mathies R., 2008, "Realtime forensic DNA analysis at a crime scene using a portable microchip analyzer," Forensic Science International: Genetics, 2(4), pp. 301-309.
- [63] Stockton A. M., Chiesl T. N., Scherer J. R., and Mathies R. A., 2009, "Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon Analysis with the Mars Organic Analyzer Microchip Capillary Electrophoresis System," Analytical Chemistry, 81(2), pp. 790-796.
- [64] Jacobson S. C., Hergenroder R., Koutny L. B., Warmack R. J., and Ramsey J. M., 1994, "Effects of Injection Schemes and Column Geometry on the Performance of Microchip Electrophoresis Devices," Analytical Chemistry, 66(7), pp. 1107-1113.
- [65] Ueberfeld J., El-Difrawy S. A., Ramdhanie K., and Ehrlich D. J., 2006, "Solidsupport sample loading for DNA sequencing," Anal. Chem, **78**(11), pp. 3632-3637.
- [66] Long Z., Shen Z., Wu D., Qin J., and Lin B., 2007, "Integrated multilayer microfluidic device with a nanoporous membrane interconnect for online coupling of solid-phase extraction to microchip electrophoresis," Lab Chip, 7(12), pp. 1819-1824.
- [67] Ruiz-Martinez M. C., Salas-Solano O., Carrilho E., Kotler L., and Karger B. L., 1998, "A Sample Purification Method for Rugged and High-Performance DNA Sequencing by Capillary Electrophoresis Using Replaceable Polymer Solutions. A. Development of the Cleanup Protocol," Analytical Chemistry, **70**(8), pp. 1516-1527.
- [68] Paegel B. M., Yeung S. H. I., and Mathies R. A., 2002, "Microchip Bioprocessor for Integrated Nanovolume Sample Purification and DNA Sequencing," Analytical Chemistry, 74(19), pp. 5092-5098.
- [69] Toriello N. M., Liu C. N., Blazej R. G., Thaitrong N., and Mathies R. A., 2007,
  "Integrated Affinity Capture, Purification, and Capillary Electrophoresis Microdevice for Quantitative Double-Stranded DNA Analysis," Anal. Chem., 79(22), pp. 8549-8556.
- [70] Blazej R. G., Kumaresan P., Cronier S. A., and Mathies R. A., 2007, "Inline Injection Microdevice for Attomole-Scale Sanger DNA Sequencing," Anal. Chem., 79(12), pp. 4499-4506.
- [71] Ruiz-Martinez M. C., Berka J., Belenkii A., Foret F., Miller A. W., and Karger B. L., 1993, "DNA sequencing by capillary electrophoresis with replaceable linear polyacrylamide and laser-induced fluorescence detection," Anal. Chem, 65(20), pp. 2851-2858.
- [72] Herr A. E., and Singh A. K., 2004, "Photopolymerized cross-linked polyacrylamide gels for on-chip protein sizing," Anal. Chem, **76**(16), pp. 4727-4733.
- [73] Olsen K. G., Ross D. J., and Tarlov M. J., 2002, "Immobilization of DNA hydrogel plugs in microfluidic channels," Anal. Chem, **74**(6), pp. 1436-1441.
- [74] Zangmeister R. A., and Tarlov M. J., 2003, "UV Graft Polymerization of Polyacrylamide Hydrogel Plugs in Microfluidic Channels," Langmuir, 19(17), pp. 6901-6904.
- [75] Thaitrong N., Toriello N. M., Del Bueno N., and Mathies R. A., 2009, "Polymerase Chain Reaction-Capillary Electrophoresis Genetic Analysis Microdevice with In-Line Affinity Capture Sample Injection," Anal. Chem., **81**(4), pp. 1371-1377.
- [76] Yeung S. H. I., Liu P., Del Bueno N., Greenspoon S. A., and Mathies R. A., 2009,
  "Integrated Sample Cleanup–Capillary Electrophoresis Microchip for High-Performance Short Tandem Repeat Genetic Analysis," Anal. Chem., 81(1), pp. 210-217.
- [77] Thaitrong N., Liu P., Briese T., Lipkin W. I., Chiesl T. N., Higa Y., and Mathies R. A., 2010, "Integrated Capillary Electrophoresis Microsystem for Multiplex Analysis of Human Respiratory Viruses," Anal. Chem., 82(24), pp. 10102-10109.
- [78] Davidson P., 2001, "Prostate specific antigen and screening for early prostate cancer," N. Z. Med. J, 114(1129), p. 150.
- [79] Barry M. J., 2001, "Clinical practice. Prostate-specific-antigen testing for early diagnosis of prostate cancer," N. Engl. J. Med, 344(18), pp. 1373-1377.

- [80] Nadler R. B., Humphrey P. A., Smith D. S., Catalona W. J., and Ratliff T. L., 1995, "Effect of Inflammation and Benign Prostatic Hyperplasia on Elevated Serum Prostate Specific Antigen Levels," J. Urol., **154**(2), pp. 407-413.
- [81] Constantinou J., and Feneley M. R., 2005, "PSA testing: an evolving relationship with prostate cancer screening," Prostate Cancer P. D., **9**(1), pp. 6-13.
- [82] Scher H. I., and Heller G., 2000, "Clinical states in prostate cancer: toward a dynamic model of disease progression," Urology, **55**(3), pp. 323-327.
- [83] Landers K. A., Burger M. J., Tebay M. A., Purdie D. M., Scells B., Samaratunga H., Lavin M. F., and Gardiner R. A., 2005, "Use of multiple biomarkers for a molecular diagnosis of prostate cancer," Int. J. Cancer, **114**(6), pp. 950-956.
- [84] Rhodes D. R., Sanda M. G., Otte A. P., Chinnaiyan A. M., and Rubin M. A., 2003, "Multiplex biomarker approach for determining risk of prostate-specific antigendefined recurrence of prostate cancer," J. Natl. Cancer Inst, 95(9), pp. 661-668.
- [85] Etzioni R., Kooperberg C., Pepe M., Smith R., and Gann P. H., 2003, "Combining biomarkers to detect disease with application to prostate cancer," Biostatistics, 4(4), pp. 523-538.
- [86] Liotta L., and Petricoin E., 2000, "Molecular profiling of human cancer," Nat. Rev. Genet., **1**(1), pp. 48-56.
- [87] Elek J., Park K. H., and Narayanan R., 2000, "Microarray-based expression profiling in prostate tumors," In Vivo, **14**(1), pp. 173-182.
- [88] Welsh J. B., Sapinoso L. M., Su A. I., Kern S. G., Wang-Rodriguez J., Moskaluk C. A., Frierson H. F., and Hampton G. M., 2001, "Analysis of Gene Expression Identifies Candidate Markers and Pharmacological Targets in Prostate Cancer," Cancer Res., 61(16), pp. 5974 -5978.
- [89] Glinsky G. V., Glinskii A. B., Stephenson A. J., Hoffman R. M., and Gerald W. L., 2004, "Gene expression profiling predicts clinical outcome of prostate cancer," J. Clin. Invest., 113(6), pp. 913-923.
- [90] Ramaswamy S., Ross K. N., Lander E. S., and Golub T. R., 2003, "A molecular signature of metastasis in primary solid tumors," Nat. Genet., **33**(1), pp. 49-54.
- [91] Luo J., Dunn T., Ewing C., Sauvageot J., Chen Y., Trent J., and Isaacs W., 2002, "Gene expression signature of benign prostatic hyperplasia revealed by cDNA microarray analysis," Prostate, 51(3), pp. 189-200.
- [92] Dhanasekaran S. M., Barrette T. R., Ghosh D., Shah R., Varambally S., Kurachi K., Pienta K. J., Rubin M. A., and Chinnaiyan A. M., 2001, "Delineation of prognostic

biomarkers in prostate cancer," Nature, 412(6849), pp. 822-826.

- [93] Glinsky G. V., Berezovska O., and Glinskii A. B., 2005, "Microarray analysis identifies a death-from-cancer signature predicting therapy failure in patients with multiple types of cancer," J. Clin. Invest., **115**(6), pp. 1503-1521.
- [94] Taniguchi M., Miura K., Iwao H., and Yamanaka S., 2001, "Quantitative assessment of DNA microarrays--comparison with Northern blot analyses," Genomics, 71(1), pp. 34-39.
- [95] Chuaqui R. F., Bonner R. F., Best C. J., Gillespie J. W., Flaig M. J., Hewitt S. M., Phillips J. L., Krizman D. B., Tangrea M. A., Ahram M., Linehan W. M., Knezevic V., and Emmert-Buck M. R., 2002, "Post-analysis follow-up and validation of microarray experiments," Nat. Genet., 32(Supp), pp. 509-514.
- [96] Levesque-Sergerie J., Duquette M., Thibault C., Delbecchi L., and Bissonnette N., 2007, "Detection limits of several commercial reverse transcriptase enzymes: impact on the low- and high-abundance transcript levels assessed by quantitative RT-PCR," BMC Mol. Biol., 8(1), p. 93.
- [97] Subkhankulova T., Gilchrist M., and Livesey F., 2008, "Modelling and measuring single cell RNA expression levels find considerable transcriptional differences among phenotypically identical cells," BMC Genomics, **9**(1), p. 268.
- [98] Bustin S., 2002, "Quantification of mRNA using real-time reverse transcription PCR (RT-PCR): trends and problems," J. Mol. Endocrinol., **29**(1), pp. 23-39.
- [99] Schouten J. P., McElgunn C. J., Waaijer R., Zwijnenburg D., Diepvens F., and Pals G., 2002, "Relative quantification of 40 nucleic acid sequences by multiplex ligationdependent probe amplification," Nucleic Acids Res., 30(12), p. e57.
- [100] Rautio J. J., Satokari R., Vehmaan-Kreula P., Serkkola E., and Söderlund H., 2008, "TRAC in high-content gene expression analysis: applications in microbial population studies, process biotechnology and biomedical research," Expert Rev. Mol. Diagn., 8(4), pp. 379-385.
- [101] Rautio J. J., Kataja K., Satokari R., Penttilä M., Söderlund H., and Saloheimo M., 2006, "Rapid and multiplexed transcript analysis of microbial cultures using capillary electophoresis-detectable oligonucleotide probe pools," J. Microbiol. Meth., 65(3), pp. 404-416.
- [102] Rautio J. J., Huuskonen A., Vuokko H., Vidgren V., and Londesborough J., 2007,
  "Monitoring yeast physiology during very high gravity wort fermentations by frequent analysis of gene expression," Yeast, 24(9), pp. 741-760.
- [103] Satokari R. M., Kataja K., and Söderlund H., 2005, "Multiplexed Quantification of

Bacterial 16S rRNA by Solution Hybridization with Oligonucleotide Probes and Affinity Capture," Microb. Ecol, **50**(1), pp. 120-127.

- [104] Kataja K., Satokari R. M., Arvas M., Takkinen K., and Söderlund H., 2006, "A highly sensitive and multiplexed method for focused transcript analysis," J. Microbiol. Meth., 67(1), pp. 102-113.
- [105] Guzman N. A., Blanc T., and Phillips T. M., 2008, "Immunoaffinity capillary electrophoresis as a powerful strategy for the quantification of low-abundance biomarkers, drugs, and metabolites in biological matrices," Electrophoresis, 29(16), pp. 3259-3278.
- [106] Paegel B. M., Yeung S. H. I., and Mathies R. A., 2002, "Microchip Bioprocessor for Integrated Nanovolume Sample Purification and DNA Sequencing," Anal. Chem., 74(19), pp. 5092-5098.
- [107] Liu P., Scherer J. R., Greenspoon S. A., Chiesl T. N., and Mathies R. A., 2010, "Integrated sample cleanup and capillary array electrophoresis microchip for forensic short tandem repeat analysis," Forensic Sci. Int.: Genetics.
- [108] Simpson P. C., Woolley A. T., and Mathies R. A., 1998, "Microfabrication Technology for the Production of Capillary Array Electrophoresis Chips," Biomed. Microdevices, 1(1), pp. 7-26.
- [109] Kivioja T., Arvas M., Kataja K., Penttilä M., Söderlund H., and Ukkonen E., 2002, "Assigning probes into a small number of pools separable by electrophoresis," Bioinformatics, 18 Suppl 1, pp. S199-206.
- [110] Kilpinen S., Autio R., Ojala K., Iljin K., Bucher E., Sara H., Pisto T., Saarela M., Skotheim R. I., Bjorkman M., Mpindi J., Haapa-Paananen S., Vainio P., Edgren H., Wolf M., Astola J., Nees M., Hautaniemi S., and Kallioniemi O., 2008, "Systematic bioinformatic analysis of expression levels of 17,330 human genes across 9,783 samples from 175 types of healthy and pathological tissues," Genome Biol, 9(9), p. R139.
- [111] Shi Y., Simpson P. C., Scherer J. R., Wexler D., Skibola C., Smith M. T., and Mathies R. A., 1999, "Radial capillary array electrophoresis microplate and scanner for highperformance nucleic acid analysis," Anal. Chem, 71(23), pp. 5354-5361.
- [112] Giddings M. C., Severin J., Westphall M., Wu J., and Smith L. M., 1998, "A software system for data analysis in automated DNA sequencing," Genome Res, 8(6), pp. 644-665.
- [113] Butler J. M., Buel E., Crivellente F., and McCord B. R., 2004, "Forensic DNA typing by capillary electrophoresis using the ABI Prism 310 and 3100 genetic analyzers for STR analysis," Electrophoresis, 25(1011), pp. 1397-1412.

- [114] Toriello N. M., Liu C. N., Blazej R. G., Thaitrong N., and Mathies R. A., 2007, "Integrated Affinity Capture, Purification, and Capillary Electrophoresis Microdevice for Quantitative Double-Stranded DNA Analysis," Anal. Chem., 79(22), pp. 8549-8556.
- [115] Barber R. D., Harmer D. W., Coleman R. A., and Clark B. J., 2005, "GAPDH as a housekeeping gene: analysis of GAPDH mRNA expression in a panel of 72 human tissues," Physiol. Genomics, 21(3), pp. 389 -395.
- [116] Rondinelli R. H., Epner D. E., and Tricoli J. V., 1997, "Increased glyceraldehyde-3phosphate dehydrogenase gene expression in late pathological stage human prostate cancer," Prostate Cancer P. D., 1(2), pp. 66-72.
- [117] Sramkoski R. M., Pretlow T. G., Giaconia J. M., Pretlow T. P., Schwartz S., Sy M., Marengo S. R., Rhim J. S., Zhang D., and Jacobberger J. W., 1999, "A new human prostate carcinoma cell line, 22Rv1," In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Anim., 35(7), pp. 403-409.
- [118] Korenchuk S., Lehr J. E., MClean L., Lee Y. G., Whitney S., Vessella R., Lin D. L., and Pienta K. J., 2001, "VCaP, a cell-based model system of human prostate cancer," In Vivo, 15(2), pp. 163-168.
- [119] van Bokhoven A., Varella-Garcia M., Korch C., Johannes W. U., Smith E. E., Miller H. L., Nordeen S. K., Miller G. J., and Lucia M. S., 2003, "Molecular characterization of human prostate carcinoma cell lines," Prostate, 57(3), pp. 205-225.
- [120] Veldscholte J., Berrevoets C. A., Ris-Stalpers C., Kuiper G. G., Jenster G., Trapman J., Brinkmann A. O., and Mulder E., 1992, "The androgen receptor in LNCaP cells contains a mutation in the ligand binding domain which affects steroid binding characteristics and response to antiandrogens," J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol, 41(3-8), pp. 665-669.
- [121] Gregory C. W., He B., Johnson R. T., Ford O. H., Mohler J. L., French F. S., and Wilson E. M., 2001, "A Mechanism for Androgen Receptor-mediated Prostate Cancer Recurrence after Androgen Deprivation Therapy," Cancer Res., 61(11), pp. 4315 -4319.
- [122] Webber M. M., Bello D., Kleinman H. K., Wartinger D. D., Williams D. E., and Rhim J. S., 1996, "Prostate specific antigen and androgen receptor induction and characterization of an immortalized adult human prostatic epithelial cell line," Carcinogenesis, **17**(8), pp. 1641 -1646.
- [123] Sardana G., Jung K., Stephan C., and Diamandis E. P., 2008, "Proteomic analysis of conditioned media from the PC3, LNCaP, and 22Rv1 prostate cancer cell lines: discovery and validation of candidate prostate cancer biomarkers," J. Proteome Res, 7(8), pp. 3329-3338.

- [124] Hubert R. S., Vivanco I., Chen E., Rastegar S., Leong K., Mitchell S. C., Madraswala R., Zhou Y., Kuo J., Raitano A. B., Jakobovits A., Saffran D. C., and Afar D. E. H., 1999, "STEAP: A prostate-specific cell-surface antigen highly expressed in human prostate tumors," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 96(25), pp. 14523 -14528.
- [125] Tomlins S. A., Rhodes D. R., Perner S., Dhanasekaran S. M., Mehra R., Sun X., Varambally S., Cao X., Tchinda J., Kuefer R., Lee C., Montie J. E., Shah R. B., Pienta K. J., Rubin M. A., and Chinnaiyan A. M., 2005, "Recurrent Fusion of TMPRSS2 and ETS Transcription Factor Genes in Prostate Cancer," Science, 310(5748), pp. 644 -648.
- [126] Hermans K. G., van Marion R., van Dekken H., Jenster G., van Weerden W. M., and Trapman J., 2006, "TMPRSS2:ERG Fusion by Translocation or Interstitial Deletion Is Highly Relevant in Androgen-Dependent Prostate Cancer, But Is Bypassed in Late-Stage Androgen Receptor-Negative Prostate Cancer," Cancer Res., 66(22), pp. 10658-10663.
- [127] Tomlins S. A., Rhodes D. R., Yu J., Varambally S., Mehra R., Perner S., Demichelis F., Helgeson B. E., Laxman B., and Morris D. S., 2008, "The Role of SPINK1 in ETS Rearrangement-Negative Prostate Cancers," Cancer Cell, 13(6), pp. 519-528.
- [128] Laxman B., Morris D. S., Yu J., Siddiqui J., Cao J., Mehra R., Lonigro R. J., Tsodikov A., Wei J. T., Tomlins S. A., and Chinnaiyan A. M., 2008, "A First-Generation Multiplex Biomarker Analysis of Urine for the Early Detection of Prostate Cancer," Cancer Res., 68(3), pp. 645-649.
- [129] Bassily N. H., Vallorosi C. J., Akdas G., Montie J. E., and Rubin M. A., 2000,
  "Coordinate Expression of Cytokeratins 7 and 20 in Prostate Adenocarcinoma and Bladder Urothelial Carcinoma," Am. J. Clin. Pathol., **113**(3), pp. 383 -388.
- [130] Prasad S., Thraves P., Dritschilo A., and Kuettel M., 1998, "Expression of cytokeratin-19 as a marker of neoplastic progression of human prostate epithelial cells," Prostate, 35(3), pp. 203-211.
- [131] Rabbani S. A., and Xing R. H., 1998, "Role of urokinase (uPA) and its receptor (uPAR) in invasion and metastasis of hormone-dependent malignancies," Int. J. Oncol, **12**(4), pp. 911-920.
- [132] Hoosein N. M., Boyd D. D., Hollas W. J., Mazar A., Henkin J., and Chung L. W., 1991, "Involvement of urokinase and its receptor in the invasiveness of human prostatic carcinoma cell lines," Cancer Commun, 3(8), pp. 255-264.
- [133] Webber M. M., Bello D., and Quader S., 1996, "Immortalized and tumorigenic adult human prostatic epithelial cell lines: Characteristics and applications part I. Cell markers and immortalized nontumorigenic cell lines," Prostate, 29(6), pp. 386-394.

- [134] Vos P., Hogers R., Bleeker M., Reijans M., van de Lee T., Hornes M., Frijters A., Pot J., Peleman J., and Kuiper M., 1995, "AFLP: a new technique for DNA fingerprinting," Nucleic Acids Res, 23(21), pp. 4407-4414.
- [135] Toriello N. M., Douglas E. S., Thaitrong N., Hsiao S. C., Francis M. B., Bertozzi C. R., and Mathies R. A., 2008, "Integrated microfluidic bioprocessor for single-cell gene expression analysis," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 105(51), pp. 20173-20178.
- [136] Hühmer A. F. R., and Landers J. P., 2000, "Noncontact Infrared-Mediated Thermocycling for Effective Polymerase Chain Reaction Amplification of DNA in Nanoliter Volumes," Analytical Chemistry, 72(21), pp. 5507-5512.
- [137] Easley C. J., Karlinsey J. M., Bienvenue J. M., Legendre L. A., Roper M. G., Feldman S. H., Hughes M. A., Hewlett E. L., Merkel T. J., Ferrance J. P., and Landers J. P., 2006, "A fully integrated microfluidic genetic analysis system with sample-in– answer-out capability," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 103(51), pp. 19272 -19277.
- [138] Liu C. N., Toriello N. M., and Mathies R. A., 2006, "Multichannel PCR-CE Microdevice for Genetic Analysis," Analytical Chemistry, 78(15), pp. 5474-5479.
- [139] Erill I., Campoy S., Rus J., Fonseca L., Ivorra A., Navarro Z., Plaza J. A., Aguiló J., and Barbé J., 2004, "Development of a CMOS-compatible PCR chip: comparison of design and system strategies," J. Micromech. Microeng., 14(11), pp. 1558-1568.
- [140] Sun K., Yamaguchi A., Ishida Y., Matsuo S., and Misawa H., 2002, "A heaterintegrated transparent microchannel chip for continuous-flow PCR," Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 84(2-3), pp. 283-289.
- [141] Lagally E. T., Emrich C. A., and Mathies R. A., 2001, "Fully integrated PCRcapillary electrophoresis microsystem for DNA analysis," Lab Chip, **1**(2), p. 102.
- [142] Blazej R. G., Kumaresan P., and Mathies R. A., 2006, "Microfabricated bioprocessor for integrated nanoliter-scale Sanger DNA sequencing," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, **103**(19), pp. 7240 -7245.
- [143] Liu P., Seo T. S., Beyor N., Shin K., Scherer J. R., and Mathies R. A., 2007, "Integrated Portable Polymerase Chain Reaction-Capillary Electrophoresis Microsystem for Rapid Forensic Short Tandem Repeat Typing," Analytical Chemistry, **79**(5), pp. 1881-1889.
- [144] Luharuka R., and Hesketh P. J., 2008, "A bistable electromagnetically actuated rotary gate microvalve," J. Micromech. Microeng., **18**(3), p. 035015.
- [145] Roberts D., Hanqing Li, Steyn J., Yaglioglu O., Spearing S., Schmidt M., and Hagood

N., 2003, "A piezoelectric microvalve for compact high-frequency, high-differential pressure hydraulic micropumping systems," Microelectromechanical Systems, Journal of, **12**(1), pp. 81-92.

- [146] Unger M. A., Chou H., Thorsen T., Scherer A., and Quake S. R., 2000, "Monolithic Microfabricated Valves and Pumps by Multilayer Soft Lithography," Science, 288(5463), pp. 113 -116.
- [147] Lagally E. T., Scherer J. R., Blazej R. G., Toriello N. M., Diep B. A., Ramchandani M., Sensabaugh G. F., Riley L. W., and Mathies R. A., 2004, "Integrated Portable Genetic Analysis Microsystem for Pathogen/Infectious Disease Detection," Analytical Chemistry, **76**(11), pp. 3162-3170.
- [148] Li B., Chen Q., Lee D., Woolman J., and Carman G. P., 2005, "Development of large flow rate, robust, passive micro check valves for compact piezoelectrically actuated pumps," Sensors and Actuators A: Physical, 117(2), pp. 325-330.
- [149] Yu C., Mutlu S., Selvaganapathy P., Mastrangelo C. H., Svec F., and Fréchet J. M. J., 2003, "Flow Control Valves for Analytical Microfluidic Chips without Mechanical Parts Based on Thermally Responsive Monolithic Polymers," Analytical Chemistry, 75(8), pp. 1958-1961.
- [150] Zhao B., Viernes N. O. L., Moore J. S., and Beebe D. J., 2002, "Control and Applications of Immiscible Liquids in Microchannels," Journal of the American Chemical Society, **124**(19), pp. 5284-5285.
- [151] Fan Z. H., 2009, "Microfluidic devices with photodefinable pseudo-valves for protein separation," Methods Mol. Biol, 544, pp. 43-52.
- [152] Jensen E. C., Zeng Y., Kim J., and Mathies R. A., 2010, "Microvalve Enabled Digital Microfluidic Systems for High-Performance Biochemical and Genetic Analysis," Journal of the Association for Laboratory Automation, 15(6), pp. 455-463.
- [153] Grover W. H., Skelley A. M., Liu C. N., Lagally E. T., and Mathies R. A., 2003, "Monolithic membrane valves and diaphragm pumps for practical large-scale integration into glass microfluidic devices," Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 89(3), pp. 315-323.
- [154] Gomez F., 2008, Biological Applications of Microfluidics, Wiley-Interscience, Hoboken N.J.
- [155] Jensen E. C., Bhat B. P., and Mathies R. A., 2010, "A digital microfluidic platform for the automation of quantitative biomolecular assays," Lab Chip, **10**(6), p. 685.
- [156] Beyor N., Yi L., Seo T. S., and Mathies R. A., 2009, "Integrated Capture, Concentration, Polymerase Chain Reaction, and Capillary Electrophoretic Analysis of

Pathogens on a Chip," Analytical Chemistry, 81(9), pp. 3523-3528.

- [157] Novak R., Zeng Y., Shuga J., Venugopalan G., Fletcher D. A., Smith M. T., and Mathies R. A., 2011, "Single-Cell Multiplex Gene Detection and Sequencing with Microfluidically Generated Agarose Emulsions," Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 50(2), pp. 390-395.
- [158] Chou H., Unger M. A., and Quake S. R., 2001, "A Microfabricated Rotary Pump," Biomedical Microdevices, **3**(4), pp. 323-330-330.
- [159] Paegel B. M., Grover W. H., Skelley A. M., Mathies R. A., and Joyce G. F., 2006, "Microfluidic Serial Dilution Circuit," Analytical Chemistry, 78(21), pp. 7522-7527.
- [160] Grover W. H., and Mathies R. A., 2005, "An integrated microfluidic processor for single nucleotide polymorphism-based DNA computing," Lab Chip, 5(10), pp. 1033-1040.
- [161] Song S., Singh A. K., and Kirby B. J., 2004, "Electrophoretic Concentration of Proteins at Laser-Patterned Nanoporous Membranes in Microchips," Analytical Chemistry, 76(15), pp. 4589-4592.